

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

Patient-Rated Physician Compassion and Patient Compliance with Colorectal Cancer Screening

Christine Caputo Winn Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Health and Medical Administration Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Health Sciences and Public Policy

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Christine Caputo Winn

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Martina Steed, Committee Chairperson, Health Services Faculty Dr. Cynthia Newell, Committee Member, Health Services Faculty Dr. Rabeh Hijazi, University Reviewer, Health Services Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2022

Abstract

Patient-Rated Physician Compassion and Patient Compliance with Colorectal Cancer

Screening

by

Christine Caputo Winn

MSOD, University of Pennsylvania 2004

MHA, University of South Carolina 1992

BA, Furman University 1990

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Health Services

Walden University

February 2023

Abstract

In 2021, colorectal cancer was the second leading cause of cancer deaths in the United States, where screening prevented 46%–63% of colorectal cancer deaths. Compassionate care has been an area of study among scholars since Hippocrates. The purpose of this quantitative research study was to examine whether there was a relationship between the independent variables of provider compassion, patient gender, and length of provider patient relationship with the dependent variable of patient adherence behavior for prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests among primary care patients between 2019 and 2020 in a northeastern U.S. state. Guided by the theory of planned behavior as the framework for this study and using a sample size of 488 patients, a logistical regression analysis resulted in no statistically significant relationships between physician compassion, patient gender, length of provider patient relationship, and patient adherence to prescribed colorectal screening. However, the sample reported a higher colorectal cancer screening rate and a higher-than-average compassion score. The study contributes to positive social change by empowering physicians to focus on compassionate care through the emphasis on compassionate care relationships that may inspire cancer screening adherence and potentially save lives.

Patient-Rated Physician Compassion and Patient Compliance with Colorectal Cancer Screening

by

Christine Caputo Winn

MSOD, University of Pennsylvania 2004 MHA, University of South Carolina 1992 BA, Furman University 1990

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Health Services

Walden University

February 2023

Dedication

This degree and all my degrees are dedicated to my grandfather, James S. Pannucci. Although he never graduated from high school, he established a successful business and taught himself how to use a computer at age 80. He always taught me that education was something no one could take away from you and that I should shoot for the stars in getting as many degrees as I could. Pop Pop, this one is for you!

Acknowledgments

A dissertation takes a village of support and mentoring in order to create a body of work that is additive to our scholarly community. Thank you to my husband, Rob, for being so patient, supportive, kind, and helpful through this long road. He joined me at the dining room table many weekends in support of writing, rewriting, and rewriting again! Thank you to my Chair, Dr. Martina Steed, for her positivity, feedback, and support as we created this contribution to the community. Also, to Drs. Cynthia Newell and Rabeh Hijazi for their invaluable feedback to make this document a more refined product. And finally, thank you to my boss and work colleagues who encouraged and assisted me in this journey as well. A special shout out has to go to my data supports, Dr. Sadegh Mikaeili, Dr. Brian Roberts, and Dr. Snehal Gandhi. They were invaluable supports who answered countless questions as I waded through the data. And to my mom, dad, and stepmom who continued to cheer me on through all the years! All are so appreciated along this multiyear expedition.

List of Tables iv
List of Figuresv
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study1
Background of the Study2
Patient-Rated Provider Compassion
Colorectal Cancer Screening5
Problem Statement
Purpose of the Study7
Research Questions and Hypotheses8
Theoretical Foundation9
Nature of the Study
Definitions12
Scope and Delimitations13
Limitations14
Significance of the Study14
Summary15
Chapter 2: Literature Review
Physician Impact16
Cancer Screening
Patient Feedback Mechanism20
Literature Search Strategy21

Table of Contents

Theoretical Foundation	22
Literature Review Related to Key Variables and/or Concepts	24
Compassion	
Length of Relationship	26
Patient Gender	27
Summary and Conclusions	
Chapter 3: Research Method	33
Research Design and Rationale	34
Methodology	37
Population	37
Sampling and Sampling Procedures	37
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation and Data Collection (Archival	
Data)	39
Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs	39
Data Analysis Plan	42
Research Questions and Hypotheses	43
Statistical Test	44
Threats to Validity	45
External Validity	45
Internal Validity	46
Construct Validity	47
Ethical Procedures	47

Summary	48
Chapter 4: Results	49
Data Collection	51
Study Results	55
Summary	61
Chapter 5: Discussions, Conclusions, and Recommendations	62
Interpretation of the Findings	64
Limitations of the Study	66
Recommendations	67
Implications	68
Conclusion	68

List of Tables

Table 1. Constructs and Their Roles	38
Table 2. Descriptive Statistics: Original Sample	52
Table 3. Order Completion: Original Sample	52
Table 4. Gender Distribution: Original Sample	53
Table 5. Length of Relationship: Original Sample	54
Table 6. Omnibus Tests of Model Coefficients: Original Sample	56
Table 7. Variables in Equation: Original Sample	56
Table 8. Moderation Coefficients: Original Sample	58
Table 9. Order Completion: Boostrapped Sample	59
Table 10. Omnibus Tests of Model Coefficients: Bootstrapped Sample	60
Table 11. Variables in the Equation: Bootstrapped Sample	60

List of Figures

Figure 1.	Compassion	Composite	Score Distribution:	Original	Sample	54
0	<u>r</u>	r r r r r r r r r r r r r r r r r r r		- 0	- · · F · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Health care administrators must prioritize health care quality improvement as a central responsibility at the heart of their role (World Health Organization, 2018). A focus on high-quality outcomes can impact both the patients served and the reputation of the institution that is administratively led. Although outpatient ratings of healthcare quality by patients took into account many factors, positive patient-rated experiences with their provider were a key metric that was isolated as an important component of overall patient-rated quality outcomes (Kumah et al., 2017). In fact, patients that rated their clinical visit satisfaction higher also seemed to associate that experience with higher quality (Kumah et al., 2017). Thus, the general concept of isolated elements that influence a patient's perception of quality inspired this research project. Patient trust in a provider and feelings that they were compassionate may have promoted a higher likelihood of adherence to the provider's recommendations, which led to improved quality care outcomes for patients (Sinclair et al., 2016). Assisting providers by making a thorough investment in people-centered elements of the care experience led to increased patient empowerment and encouraged active patient participation in follow through with care (Amuito-Kareaga et al., 2017). As suggested by Hesse and Rauscher, (2019), a provider-patient relationship based on encouragement was linked to improved overall care quality and dramatically impacted the social problem of overall health care quality. In this study, I determined the association between specific provider behaviors, like compassion and treatment adherence outcomes, to demonstrate the impact of physician compassion on quality outcomes. This connection between patient-rated physician

compassion and patient adherence regarding cancer screening tests led to increased early detection through improved compliance with colorectal cancer screening tests, which positively impacted the social problem of quality health outcomes. Kerasidou et al. (2021) maintained that health systems had a role in policy design for their care settings to value the role and impact of compassion. In fact, Kerasidou et al. suggested that this type of focused attention through organizational policies from a health system encouraged physicians to highlight compassion in their care delivery. This level of concentration on the emotional connection between a patient and provider within the health care relationship yielded improved patient adherence to prescribed tests and treatments.

In the current study, I established there was not a statistically significant relationship between compassion and adherence to cancer screening tests. Although the overall findings were not statistically significant, the fact that a perfect patient-rated provider compassion rating resulted in higher than U.S. average compliance for colorectal cancer screening could point to a new focus area for reduction in cancer mortality and possibly avoidable deaths (see Smith et al., 2018). The findings from the current study indicated that the patient's positive feelings about provider compassion could have led to adherence with colorectal cancer screening, which would lead to improved overall health quality through early identification and potentially reduced deaths from cancer.

Background of the Study

Compassion was defined as an active state that compelled one into action to alleviate suffering and demonstrated a link to patient satisfaction and patient compliance (Roberts et al., 2019). The evolution of compassion as a stand-alone phenomenon has been debated since Aristotle, yet the concept always involved action to relieve suffering (Malenfant et al., 2022). The initial physician–patient relationship required both trust and action to develop between acquaintances. Compassion remained an important element for the physician to foster in the relationship. Synderman and Gyasto (2019) described compassion as integral in the physician–patient relationship due to the need for deep trust between the two in order to inspire action on treatment recommendations. In fact, Singh et al. (2018) made the claim that compassion is crucial to the provision of quality health care due to the trust required by a patient to adhere to a physician's recommendations. Thus, compassion has been considered a foundational component of the provision of patient care that assisted in the advancement of the patient-physician relationship (Singh, et al., 2018).

Patient-Rated Provider Compassion

Liang et al. (2017) suggested that a pleasant relationship between a provider and a patient was something that the patient could judge; provide feedback on; and based upon that good feeling about the relationship, could make an assessment about the physician's quality. Trzeciak et al. (2017) offered that this type of patient comment survey validated that compassion was an important element in the overall care delivery experience. Patient survey response reports deemed physician compassion valuable in a number of care delivery settings. In outpatient mental health situations, therapeutic relationships that were built on trust and compassion produced positive feelings toward treatment adherence (Limandri, 2020). Anghel et al. (2018) uncovered that a positive, trusting

relationship with the physician impacted the patient's adherence in a rheumatology setting. This positive feeling toward the physician from the patient was found even when the patient was presented with fictious clinical vignettes (Heinze et al., 2020). According to Heinze et al. (2020), patients looked for physician compassion even in experimental provider scenarios. In 2020, Keulen et al. recounted a Hippocrates quote, "the patient, though conscious that his condition is perilous, may recover his health that simply through his contentment with the goodness of the physician" (p.600). This again supported the concept that the patient–physician relationship was impacted by patient behavior through the suggestion that a patient recovered their health simply through their contentment with the goodness of the physician.

To this end, a five-item survey methodology was validated through a confirmatory factor analysis to rate the compassion of providers in an outpatient setting through the Press Ganey survey and provide an objective patient-rated provider compassion measure (Roberts, et al., 2019). I used the five-item Compassion Scale developed by Roberts et al. (2019) and administered with the Clinician and Group Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems Survey (CG-CAHPS) survey in the current study to determine if patient-rated physician compassion impacted patient compliance with colorectal cancer screening tests. Determining if there is a higher rate of compliance with colorectal cancer screening if the patient rated their provider as having high compassion could be have a positive impact on overall health care quality.

Colorectal Cancer Screening

According to the U.S. Preventative Task Force, the screening guidelines suggested in 2019 for persons 50–75-years-old with average risk were a colonoscopy every 10 years or a blood stool test every year (Davidson et al., 2021). Of this age group in the United States, 68.8% got screened for colorectal cancer, which was not at the desired level of 70% compliance as stated in the public health goal document Healthy People 2020 (Davidson et al., 2021). Several factors were associated with lack of colorectal cancer screening, including lower age, insurance status, patient gender, and not seeing a physician routinely (Davidson et al., 2021). There was a lack of literature that evaluated a direct association between patient-rated provider compassion and patient behavior regarding obtaining routine colorectal cancer screening exams. There was, however, evidence that suggested a conversation with a physician impacted the compliance rate for colorectal cancer screening (Ghai et al., 2020; Joseph et al., 2018; Murphy et al., 2020). However, narrowing down which specific element within the physician-patient interaction has an effect on colorectal cancer screening adherence has not been studied. The trait of compassion has been understood as an important element for effective provider and patient relationships (Roberts et al., 2019). Freeman-Hildreth et al. (2019) suggested that a high compassion rating of a physician had a significant connection with improved patient self-management skills of a chronic disease. Additionally, the absence of research on provider compassion as a stand-alone quality of positive patient-physician interactions and its impact on patient adherence could be seen as a missing element to improve health outcomes (Tanco et al., 2015). Peterson et al.

(2016) found that positive provider communication influenced patient behavior surrounding adherence to prescribed cancer screening tests and suggested that the exploration of a variety of positive communication nuances could reveal more about the specific aspect of provider communication that effected patient adherence. Since compassion was thought of as an inspirational action to diminish distress, this study's exploration of the influence of provider compassion on patient adherence to colorectal cancer screening tests could add to the health services community knowledge of the specific essentials that could enhance provider communication and positive patient outcomes (Tanco et al., 2015).

Problem Statement

The specific research question that was addressed through this study was: Does a patient-rated provider compassion rating impact patient adherence behavior for colorectal cancer screening tests? Colorectal cancer was the second leading cause of cancer death in the United States at the time of this study (Cancer.org, 2021). According to Ladabaum et al. (2020), colorectal cancer screening prevented 46%–63% of colorectal cancer deaths. Therefore, activities that increase the number of eligible patients screened for colorectal cancer, theoretically would add to lives saved and positive health care outcomes. Compassion and trust in a physician had been documented to increase compliance with adherence to assigned treatments and tests (Orom et al., 2018). Dougherty et al. (2018) demonstrated through a meta-analysis that both physician support for the screening and patient-specific navigation assistance both increase the overall colorectal cancer screening rates. Bachman et al. (2018) reported that a physician's explanation regarding

colorectal cancer screening, built trust with the patient and supported the patient's understanding of the test's importance. Patel et al. (2019) found that specific actions during a visit (e.g., sitting instead of standing, sensitivity to patient body language of understanding, and offering nonverbal affirmation cues like nodding), also add to the trust building and compassionate feelings between a physician and patient. Conversely, Ghimire et al., (2017) found that if this compassion in interactions is absent, treatment adherence can be affected. Thus, if physician compassion could be shown to influence patient adherence to their routine colorectal cancer screening, this finding could be important to public health and health system-driven efforts for increased screening rates.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this quantitative research study was to examine whether there was a relationship between provider compassion, patient gender, and length of provider patient relationship with patient adherence behavior for prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests among southern New Jersey primary care patients in 2019–2020. Roberts et al. (2019) found that compassionate physician communication could increase patient compliance with tests, treatment, and overall satisfaction with the provider relationship. Other variables could also impact a patient's rating of physician compassion. Heinze et al. (2020) found that patient gender may have an influence on physician compassion ratings and suggested that compassion matters to patients through their responses to fictious patient and physician vignettes. These vignettes demonstrated physicians talking with patients about different clinical diagnoses and served to confirm patients' preference for compassion in a traditional medical appointment. Valery et al. (2020) discovered another variable of interest in evaluating physician compassion and treatment adherence, finding that the number of visits that a patient had with a physician positively impacted adherence to colorectal cancer screening. Thus, the variables explored in this study included the patient rating of a providers' compassion level, the compliance of that provider's eligible patients with colorectal cancer screening tests, age range of patients, gender of both patient and provider, race of patient and provider, and length of time of the relationship between patient and physician. For this study, the independent variable was the patient-rated provider compassion score, and the dependent variable was compliance with prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests. Covariates explored in the quantitative analysis included length of provider-patient relationship and patient gender. I tested the associations between the independent and dependent variables through a logistical regression analysis with patient gender as a moderating variable and length of physician-patient relationship as a mediating variable.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

RQ1: To what extent does patient-rated provider compassion have a relationship with patient adherence behavior for prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests among southern New Jersey primary care patients in 2019–2020?

 H_01 : Higher ratings of provider compassion have no effect on patient adherence behavior for prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests H_11 : Higher ratings of provider compassion impact patient adherence behavior for prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests RQ2: What is the relationship between patient-rated provider compassion, length of provider–patient relationship, and patient adherence behavior to prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests among southern New Jersey primary care patients in 2019–2020?

 H_02 : Higher ratings of patient-rated provider compassion and longer lengths of provider–patient relationships have no effect patient adherence behavior to prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests H_12 : Higher ratings of patient-rated provider compassion and longer lengths of provider–patient relationships impact patient adherence behavior to prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests

RQ3: What is the relationship between patient-rated provider compassion, gender of the patient, and patient adherence behavior to prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests among southern New Jersey primary care patients in 2019–2020?

 H_0 3: Higher ratings of patient-rated provider compassion and patient gender have no effect with patient adherence behavior to prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests

 H_1 3: Higher ratings of patient-rated provider compassion and patient gender have a relationship with patient adherence behavior to prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests

Theoretical Foundation

I used the theory of planned behavior (TPB) as the theoretical framework for this study. The theory was first popularized by Ajzen (1985) who discussed the concept of

behavior being guided by intention and that all behavioral aims do not become realized. In the theory, Ajzen considered the impact of the attitude toward the behavior choice, whether the behavior has become normative, and the patient's perception of their control over the desired behavior. The application of Azjen's theory to health screening adherence was supported by Godin and Kok (1996) who found screening adherence may be a result of created norms and attitudes toward personal responsibility to carry out the behavior. Ajzen (2015) also described the theory as a means to predict intention and ensuing behavior. Previous researchers have used TPB as a framework to explore the influencers of attitude surrounding a person's intention to complete a particular behavior (Ajzen, 2015). Horne et al. (2017) found that a physician's recommendation influenced intention and adherence to the desired action. Wollancho et al. (2020) also found that the patient's attitude toward a cancer screening test was also an important component of their intention to complete it, yet there was inconsistency in the behavior actually being completed. In this study, I employed TPB as a lens through which to view the relationship between patient-rated physician compassion on a patient's completion of their prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests.

Nature of the Study

In this quantitative study, I employed a quasi-experimental design, specifically using a time sample approach. Campbell and Stanley (2015) suggested that this type of design, specifically an equivalent time sample approach, is a common tactic to use to collect two sets of measures to compare the effects of an experimental variable. I conducted this study to determine if a relationship exists between patient-rated provider compassion and patient adherence with prescribed cancer screening tests with the intervening variables of patient gender and length of relationship between provider and patient.

I used two data elements for analysis: The five-item patient-rated compassion composite score provided data for the independent variable, and the patient outcome of adherence to prescribed cancer screening tests was the dependent variable. To examine the relationship between variables, I used logistical regression analysis with both moderating and mediating variable examination. This regression analysis method was suggested based on the types of variables and desired outcomes to be explored through this study (see Pokhariyal, 2019). According to Pokhariyal (2019), the review of mediation and moderation can explain relationships and proportions of variance. The data from the five-item compassion scale was a continuous variable and the data reflecting the patient adherence to their assigned cancer screening test was a binary value that demonstrated the correct variable patterns for a logistical regression study (see Ranaganthan et al., 2017). According to Baron and Kenny (1986), behavioral intention was an example of a mediation relationship. Through examining the mediation effects of length of provider and patient relationship on patient-rated provider compassion and the outcome of compliance with prescribed cancer screening tests, I evaluated the impact of length of provider-patient relationship on the independent and dependent variables. Baron and Kenny (1986) also described moderating variables as those that can affect the direction or strength of the relationship, and to that end, gender was also examined in this study.

Definitions

The data used in this study were generated from northeastern, hospital-based, primary care practices with 24 primary care outpatient sites in both urban and suburban settings throughout southern New Jersey. Primary Care was defined as both internal medicine and family medicine physician visits. I analyzed the outpatient clinic data for patients who were 49 years old and older who had visits that occurred in April -December 2019. The data were then analyzed to determine the population of patients that completed a CG-HAPHS survey with the Compassion Scale and then further analyzed to ascertain which patients also had an active colorectal cancer screening provider order compared to the screening test being completed within 2019–2020 timeframe. The independent variable results came from the patients' responses on the five-item Compassion Scale about the specific internal and family medicine physicians they saw during their clinic visit in April -December 2019. The dependent variable of completed colorectal cancer screening tests data was queried through the electronic medical record (EMR) for the same provider's eligible patients over the course of the year of April 2019–December 2020. I defined the length of relationship between patient and the physician as an interval scale by reviewing EMRs from 2019 retrospectively back 6 years to 2014 to establish if there was a visit between the internal or family medicine physicians and the patient in 2014. The EMRs were then searched for visits for each year (i.e., 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018) to determine when, and if, an initial visit occurred within that 5-year time horizon. The patient's length of relationship with the physician was categorized into 5 years and greater (i.e., 2014 as an initial visit), 1–4 years (i.e.,

2018, 2017, 2016, or 2015 as an initial visit) and less than 1 year (i.e., 2019 as an initial visit).

Scope and Delimitations

There are many methods to manage internal validity and the sequencing of the variables examined once one technique was employed. According to Warner (2013), an experimental design should create the ability to suggest a cause-and-effect relationship. When examined in a study, this causal relationship should have the cause preceding the outcome in question, which could be a method to accomplish internal validity. In the current study, the rating of the physician's compassion was evaluated prior to knowing if the patient completed their colorectal cancer screening test. Another means of supporting internal validity is to substantiate the causal association with a plausible theory to suggest a relationship could exist (Warner, 2013). For the current study, the theory of planned behavior provided such a basis for the connection of patient-rated provider compassion and patient adherence to prescribed colorectal cancer screening. In the theory, it is suggested that intention is guided by attitudes about the behavior, subjective norms, and perceived behavioral control (Ajzen, 1985).

External validity was defined as the ability to generalize the results of the experiment outside of the study population (Warner, 2013). Given that the study population represents a broad sample of primary care patients, a commercially available rating scale for physician compassion was used for assessment, and all the variables were evaluated retrospectively in this study, several threats to external validity were addressed through the use of a deliberate experimental design. Handley et al. (2018) suggested that

if an intervention was applied to an entire population, as in the current study, that intervention could it mimicked real-world conditions and could enhance the ability to generalize results.

Limitations

A limitation that could affect the strength of the relationship between the variables under study was a disproportion number of responses received for one physician with a higher-than-average compassion rating compared to their peers. This type of result may have skewed the compassion results in relation to the patient response and impacted the external validity of the study. Another limitation was the timeframe of the data collection. During 2020, elective outpatient procedures, such as colonoscopies, were stopped across the United States as a precautionary measure to combat the COVID-19 pandemic for a period of time. This unusual event might have artificially impacted compliance rates for colonoscopies. In addition to these key limitations, a few potential biases also existed within this study. Since the study took place at the institution where I work, the first potential bias revolved around separation between my role at my institution and my role as a researcher in the use and analysis of this data. Another challenge might have been lack of support from the primary care division at the institution when exploring their data.

Significance of the Study

Despite the limitations, the study might still contribute significant information to enhance the strategies used to improve patient compliance to assigned preventative tests and treatments. Cancer prevention and screening has been proven to save lives. Davidson et al. (2021) suggested that if an 80% compliance rate could be attained for colorectal cancer screening by 2030, an additional 203,000 deaths could be averted. Harber et al. (2021) estimated that approximately 1,500 additional lives might be lost to late-stage colorectal cancer in the United Kingdom based on the shutdown of screening tests during the pandemic, demonstrating the power of early detection.

Summary

The findings of this study regarding the positive influence of provider compassion on the patient intention and actualization of completion of colorectal cancer screening within the year of prescription could have a positive potential impact on saving lives from colorectal cancer. According to Nisson and Earl (2020), impacting a person's intention would assist in achieving the objective behavior desired. If intention to complete colorectal cancer screening could be associated with high patient-rated physician compassion, the implications for hospitals and provider education will be rich with possibilities to enhance the characteristics of physician—patient communication that were surveyed through the five-item Compassion Scale. This information could then save lives through encouraging additional patients to complete their screening for colorectal cancer.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

Physician Impact

Compassion has long been a notable quality of health care professionals; Hippocrates suggested that wherever the art of medicine is loved, there is also a love of humanity (Wald et al., 2019). Compassion was described as an active state that compelled one into action to alleviate suffering and was linked to patient satisfaction and patient compliance (Roberts et al., 2019). However, this basic appeal for physicians to have compassion for their patients is often mislabeled and misinterpreted. In fact, the evolution of compassion as a stand-alone phenomenon has been debated since Aristotle because it was often confused with empathy or distress (Goetz et al., 2010). The phenomena of a clinician caring could be described by patients as empathy, sympathy, or compassion, and these emotional responses, although similar, had distinct definitions and reactions. Mascaro et al. (2020) described compassion as a changeable state based on a teachable behavior. Taylor et al. (2019) proposed that sympathy, as a concept, suggested feeling sorry for another's pain without a shared experience. Weller and Jowsey (2020) pronounced that there was confusion of the phenomena of empathy and compassion and offered the distinction that empathy recognized a situation that was difficult, whereas compassion took action to resolve the difficulty. Patel et al. (2019), outlined that both empathy and compassion were elemental in a patient-provider relationship, and although narrowly linked, the authors agreed that the terms have different definitions. Goetz et al. (2010) suggested that compassion could deepen bonds and motivate action interactions between acquaintances; therefore, in a physician–patient relationship, physician

compassion might inspire action from the patient as a result of their relationship with the provider. Trzeciak et al. (2017) determined that the phenomenon of compassion played a substantial role in the delivery of quality care. These conclusions about the importance of compassion to quality have been supported by studies from the United States, Ireland, United Kingdom and Sweden (Trzeciak et al., 2017). The issue that prompted this literature search was health care quality as related to the influence provider compassion has on a patient's adherence with prescribed cancer screening tests.

Quality of care has been linked to the mutual trust developed over time between a patient and their physician because this reciprocal trust provided a level of satisfaction for the physician and strengthened follow through on physician recommendations from the patient (Grob et al., 2019). This concept of trust supported patient adherence to an agreed upon physician prescribed treatment course. In fact, if a patient trusted a provider and felt they were compassionate, they had a higher likelihood of adhering to their recommendations (Sinclair et al., 2016). Assisting providers in understanding these people-centered elements could lead to patient empowerment and, therefore, the active participation in follow through with prescribed care (Amuito-Kareaga et al., 2017). Consequently, a compassionate provider-patient relationship might be linked to enhanced care quality and could dramatically impact the social problem of health care quality if a strong association between provider compassion and screening behavior could be established (Hesse & Rauscher, 2019). In addition, Singh et al. (2018) found that patients follow instructions more often if they consider a physician compassionate. Determining this connection between patient-rated provider compassion and patient follow through

regarding prescribed cancer screening tests could lead to enhanced early detection and, thus, earlier disease intervention that could result in improved patient outcomes. Fernando and Consedine (2017) found that there were some physician-related barriers that may impede compassion for their patients. Once the physicians were aware of this feedback, the findings showed that physicians could change their approach to engender increased compassion for their patients (Fernando & Cosedine, 2017).

The connection between physician compassion and patient action appeared to transcend care delivery settings. When outpatient mental health situations dictated therapeutic relationships that were built on trust and compassion, it produced positive patient feelings toward treatment adherence (Limandri, 2020). Heinze et al. (2020) found that even when presented experimental clinical vignettes, patients looked for compassion in the fictious provider scenario. Thus, provider compassion seemed to have influenced a patient's actions. Although researchers have investigated the link between provider compassion and patient adherence to prescribed treatments, the topic has not been fully explored in relation to a physician's compassion as a positive impact on adherence to assigned cancer screening tests. Therefore, I conducted this study to objectively compare a patient's rating of their perception of a providers' compassion while evaluating the patient's behavioral outcomes regarding cancer screening tests to determine the relationship between provider compassion and patient behavior.

Cancer Screening

Cancer screening tests remain critical in the early detection of malignancies, which improves a cancer patient's chances of survival (Smith & Oeffinger, 2020). Goto et al. (2018) also found that cancer screening had a positive impact on overall health. Since an organized national system of cancer screening does not exist, the responsibility for this important aspect of care was left to individual primary care physicians to ensure their patients are compliant with age- and birth gender-based prescribed screening tests (Smith & Oeffinger, 2020). Lynn et al. (2018) found that the primary care physician's communication about cancer screening made an impact in the uptake of prescribed screening tests. In fact, Harper et al. (2021) reported that primary care physicians' communication about cancer screening tests was so essential that it was included as an important goal in Healthy People 2030.

Since colorectal cancer is one of the most preventable and treatable cancers if detected in its earliest phases, colorectal cancer screening was the focus for this study (Ladabaum et al., 2020). Colorectal cancer screening has proven to be an effective method in early detection against the second-leading cause of cancer deaths in the United States (Laird et al., 2020). However, only 63% of the age-eligible U.S. adults are compliant with this screening, conflicting with the national goal set by the American Cancer Society of having 80% of adults meeting this screening criterion (Dougherty et al., 2018). There have been many reasons cited for this lack of compliance, including embarrassment, fear, confusion about the age criterion, and lack of insurance coverage for the test (Reynolds et al., 2018). However, Huei-yu Wang et al. (2018) found that a primary care physician's communication about colorectal screening could impact whether the patient follows through with the screening. Additionally, de Moor et al. (2018) found that patients whom have seen their primary physician within the past year had a higher level of compliance with colorectal cancer screening. In summary, colorectal cancer screening is a significant way to impact quality of care through early detection and screening uptake, which appears to be impacted by communication with a primary care physician. Therefore, understanding more about the specific impact of primary care physician communication could increase the number of patients who get their colorectal cancer screening.

Patient Feedback Mechanism

Survey sampling methods, such as the Hospital Consumer Assessment of Healthcare Providers and Systems (HCAPHS) or (CG-HCAPHS), provide a mechanism to for patients to evaluate health care situations in which they were shown compassion (Mascaro et al., 2020). Trzeciak et al. (2017) offered that the five-item survey methodology embedded in the survey instruments above provided confirmation that compassion was an important element in the overall care delivery experience. This fiveitem question series related to the patient's rating of the physician's care for their wellbeing, interest in the patient as a whole person, consideration of the patient's personal needs, ability to gain their trust, and ability to show care and compassion (Roberts et al., 2021). Sabapathi et al. (2021) confirmed patient-rated compassion of a health care provider was important to the patient experience in the emergency room setting. Roberts et al. (2021) validated this same five-item patient-rated provider compassion survey scale in outpatient and acute care hospital settings through a confirmatory factor analysis, and the scale was added to the national patient satisfaction surveys offered by Press Ganey. Rodriguez and Lown (2019) also demonstrated the validity of another mechanism to

describe compassion called the 12-Item Schwartz Center Compassionate Care Scale. These surveys offered reliable mechanisms through which patients rated their health care provider's compassion. I used the five-item Compassion Scale offered by Roberts et al. (2019) and administered with the CG-CAHPS survey in this study to determine if patientrated physician compassion impacted patient compliance with cancer screening tests.

Literature Search Strategy

To locate literature on the topic of patient-rated provider compassion and the impact on patient behavior, I searched the following databases and search engines: SAGE Journals, Taylor and Francis Online, Thoreau, Elsevier, and Google Scholar. The keyword search terms used included provider compassion, patient behavior, patient provider relationship, compassion impact on patient outcomes, cancer screening behavior, patient intention, and provider trust. In other searches, I used combinations of these words to yield additional information. The searches were concentrated on literature published between 2017 and 2021, with seminal theories extending the search years into the mid-1980s. Since there were few articles that used provider compassion as the specific variable of impact on patient adherence with cancer screening tests, I widened my literature search to include a variety of cohorts that have been evaluated in a similar way, such as diabetic patients, HIV patients, mental health patients, and families with autistic children. All these populations were the subject of some research about the relationship between provider compassion and a desired outcome that improved the specific health condition. Thus, the association between perceived provider compassion and a patients' action had been deliberated among other patient disease states and

demonstrated desired outcomes, which suggested that compassion may have an impact on patient's adherence to cancer screening tests. In the theory of planned behavior, it was proposed that behavior is influenced based on intention and three associated factors: attitude regarding the behavior, perceived control of the action, and standards around the behavior (Sussman & Gifford, 2019).

Theoretical Foundation

The TPB was first established by Ajzen to explain how a behavioral model of intention could influence any behavior (Ajzen, 1985). The theory includes that the prediction regarding intention to complete a certain action could stem from the various factors surrounding attitude, control, and acceptance, which influence future participation in a given behavior. This theory had been applied to environmental, health, and social behaviors (Ajzen & Schmidt, 2020). The basis for intention within the theory grew from the three elements that make up the theory: perceived behavioral control, attitude toward performing the behavior, and subjective norms around the behavior (Ajzen, 2020). According to the theory, these aspects work together to form an intention to complete a designated behavior (Ajzen & Schmidt, 2020). The addition of a timeframe in which the defined behavior should be completed increased the explanation of variance attributed to the intention and behavior achievement (Ajzen & Schmidt, 2020). The creation of a normative standard and prescribed timeframe could influence follow through on certain health behaviors through development of a personal intention to complete these certain health behaviors (Buhmann & Bronn, 2018). In fact, attitude toward a behavior was thought to be a significant contributor to the overall explanation of variance based on the

TPB. Callow and Callow (2021) confirmed this finding about attitude guiding behavior with the uptake of COVID-19 vaccination. Faisal et al. (2020) also found attitude to be important to physician acceptance and application of new pharmaceutical information. Additionally, Ferreira and Perira (2017) found attitude toward prescribed diet and exercise increased patient adherence.

In order to describe the important concepts of intention and perceived control, Godin and Kok (1996) demonstrated the application of TPB in a variety of health behaviors, which suggested that TPB had an influence on extinguishing behaviors that were contrary to good health, such as smoking, drinking, and eating disorders. In their meta-analysis of behaviors examined with this theory, the authors evaluated the correlation with intention and perceived control and suggested that there was substantive evidence to support intention as a predictor of behavior. Similarly, Roncancio et al. (2015) evaluated the TPB's ability to reveal cervical cancer screening intentions among Latinas. The authors employed a qualitative approach to explore opinions about pap screening and formulated a survey instrument that was administered over a defined period of time to ascertain the compliance with obtaining the cervical cancer screening test. The elements of behavioral control and subjective norms that influenced intention to complete screening tests was consistent with other studies that used the TPB as a basis (Roncancio et al., 2015). In another application of the TPB, Mirzaei-Alavijeh et al. (2018) evaluated its use in mammography behavior for Iranian women and found that perceived behavioral control of the participant had a significant impact on completion of mammography screening. The researchers developed a questionnaire to solicit the

participants attitudes about the three core elements included in TPB in reference to mammography using a Likert scale. They used a regression analysis to evaluate the results of their study, which were consistent with other studies regarding perceived behavioral control and subjective norms being important variables that influenced uptake of mammography. Huang et al., (2020) conducted a survey about colorectal cancer screening using the elements from TPB to determine a relationship with screening uptake. The findings of their quantitative analysis suggested that perceived behavioral control does have a significant association with colorectal screening uptake. These results were consistent with other studies regarding colorectal cancer screening in terms of the elements of TPB demonstrating a relationship with overall uptake of this type of screening (Huang et al., 2020).

Therefore, this relevant literature points to TPB suggesting a relationship between perceived behavioral control and the completion of cancer screening tests. In the current study, I focused on the relationship of behavioral control over colorectal cancer screening and patient-rated physician compassion.

Literature Review Related to Key Variables and/or Concepts

Compassion

Sinclair et al. (2017) conducted a thorough evaluation of compassion measurement instruments and found that the reliability of these tools was questionable due to the subjective nature of patient-rated physician compassion. However, the need for a valid tool that could transcend different care experiences seemed to be an important instrument to develop because a compassionate care relationship between patient and
provider had been demonstrated to improve patient outcomes (Sinclair et al., 2017). Roberts et al. (2019) validated such a tool in the outpatient setting that provided a way for patients to rate their physician's level of compassion exhibited during their outpatient clinic visit. The results of this tool could inform the type of impression a physician made on the patient. Lafleur et al. (2019) found that interpersonal proficiencies were important because they influence the patient's relationship with the provider. Although compassion and other descriptive words, such as empathy and sympathy, were sometimes used interchangeably, compassion expressed an action to alleviate suffering, and this remains an important distinction in how compassion could matter in a physician–patient relationship (Jeffrey, 2016). The concept of action to relieve suffering embedded in the definition of compassion provided an action-oriented approach demonstrated by the physician with their patient as they assign medications, treatments, and tests (Gilbert et al., 2019).

Lin et al. (2017) found that patient experience with supportive communication that was built on trust and care led to better adherence with oral chemotherapy in breast cancer patients. The link between compassionate communication with a physician and improved treatment plan follow up and compliance led to the belief that compassion could make a difference in how a patient followed assigned screenings as well. In fact, Fuertes et al. (2017) suggested that trust gained through a caring relationship between physician and patient could positively impact care outcomes. Thus, a high compassion rating of a patient's physician could make a positive impression of how a patient feels about the provider and, in turn, influence how the patient followed the physician's instructions. Trust that was cultivated through a patient's belief of care and compassion from their provider is vital in adherence to the provider's treatment plan (Lin et al., 2017). Compassion could be increased among providers through training for the provider about techniques that assisted in relationship development and communication with the patient (Patel et al., 2019). This type of awareness education might be achieved through sharing patient-rated provider compassion scores from the CG-HAHPS.

Length of Relationship

Whereas patient cohorts have been studied to seek the impact of provider compassion on patients' perception of them, some studies have also evaluated the influence of compassion on the patient's corresponding actions. Wood et al. (2018) suggested that robust relationships between patient and provider that engendered empathy, compassion and trust, created a therapeutic alliance in chronic HIV patients. This type of alliance has been described by Sinclair et al. (2018) as a relationship which suggested a true connection, where the provider cultivated a rapport to know the patient beyond their illness, provided devoted attention during their visit and related to the patient in a way to engender a comfortable verbal exchange. Therefore, exploring the elements that strengthen a relationship would assist in understanding the influence of compassion in a provider patient relationship. Sinclair et al. (2020) also explored the elements of provider compassion in the pediatric patient population. These findings provided additional clarity about key elements that suggested evidence of provider compassion, such as length of relationship, physician communication and coordination of care (Sinclair et al., 2020). In an adult setting, the length of the patient's relationship with

the physician might also assist in enabling a deeper level of personal connection and trust to develop. As trust has been found to be an important foundational component in provider relationship building, a longer length of a physician patient relationship could lead to more trust and therefore enhanced patient compliance (Schoenthaler et al., 2018). Schwartz et al. (2017) suggested that a patient may attribute the quality of a relationship with their provider as a justification for their adherence to their prescribed diabetes medication. In fact, Bussell et al. (2017) found that in diabetic patients, the length of relationship with their provider enhances the ability to develop trust in that provider and follow their treatment recommendations. And, Valery et al. (2020) also found that in colorectal cancer screening that the number of visits to the patient's primary care physician, positively impacted the patient follow through on completing their colorectal cancer screening. Thus, length of relationship could be a factor to consider in rating a provider high in compassion and may influence the patient's decision to follow instructions from that provider (Bussell et al., 2017).

Patient Gender

Another variable of interest, was the gender of the patient in the provider patient relationship and whether patient gender might impact their rating of their physician's compassion. According to research through the American Cancer Society, the incidence of colorectal cancer and death is higher in men as opposed to women (Meester et al., 2018). This finding increased the importance of gender as a variable to explore patient rated provider compassion on patient adherence. Mehra and Mishra (2021) found that female patients tend to rate physicians with higher satisfaction scores who provided a

perceived greater degree of communication. In fact, Harper et al. (2021) suggested that provider communication is so important that it is now a goal within Healthy People 2030, as its recommendations yielded higher uptake of cancer screening of all varieties. In this way, perceived communication added to the overall positive perception of a physician. Roberts et al. (2019) suggested that compassion, caring and communication are not interchangeable. They also suggested that additional research is needed to determine which elements of communication were impactful to have a patient, male or female, positively respond (Roberts et al., 2019). In addition, Fortuna et al. (2018) also found that there is a link between medication adherence and patient satisfaction, yet did not assess any significant difference due to patient gender. Both Elsous et al. (2017) and Bener et al. (2017) found that female gender did have an association with higher compliance to diabetes medication. Whereas, Hussain et al. (2018) found that men had better adherence to post myocardial infarction treatment protocols. Thus, gender could be an influential variable to assess in its influence on patient follow through on treatment protocols.

In summary, the variables of patient compassion rating, length of relationship with the physician and patient gender all demonstrated some influence on preventative screening adherence behaviors which is the basis for inclusion of these variables in this study. Compassion ratings and length of relationships typically had a positive effect on adherence, while gender had an unpredictable effect. Thus, learning more about these antecedents to compliance with assigned preventative cancer screening tests could assist in overall improved quality of care.

Summary and Conclusions

There appeared to be a gap in the literature regarding patient rated provider compassion and its association with patient compliance in obtaining colorectal cancer screening exams. This gap was supported by the findings of Freeman-Hildreth et al. (2019), where a high compassion rating of a physician had a significant connection with improved patient management abilities of a chronic disease. Additionally, this gap of provider compassion, as a stand-alone quality, was seen as a foundational element for patient centered care and improved health outcomes (Tanco et al., 2015). The trait of compassion has been seen as an important element for effective provider and patient relationships (Roberts et al., 2019). Peterson et al. (2016) also found that positive provider communication influenced both provider and patient relationships, as well as patient behavior surrounding adherence to prescribed cancer screening tests. It was suggested that exploring a variety of communication nuances could reveal more about the specific impact a compassionate provider message had on patient adherence (Peterson et al., 2016). Compassion could be thought of as an inspired action from one to another in order to diminish distress (Tanco et al., 2015). In fact, 93% of patients suggested that a compassion deficit negatively impacted their quality of care (Trzeciak et al., 2017). Additionally, Freeman-Hildreth et al. (2018) found that provider compassionate communication improved coping ability of patients with Type II diabetes. Tierney et al. (2017) also found that the ongoing chronic care required for diabetics necessitated compassion to support patients through the variety of phases of their journey with their condition. In fact, non-compliance with treatments was seen as a barrier to provider

compassion from patients (Tierney et al., 2017). Compassion was also found to be foundational to patient centered care and positive response from patients across a variety of cultures (Singh et al., 2018). Gu et al. (2017) found that 71% of physicians surveyed responded that compassion could make a difference in patient outcomes. Therefore, exploration of the impact of provider compassion on patient adherence could add to the health services community knowledge of specific variables that enhanced provider communication and therefore, positive patient outcomes related to preventative care.

There was significant support in the literature for the use of the theory of planned behavior as a framework that described the influences on behavior choices. Thus, it appeared to be a valid choice as a framework to determine if provider compassion influenced the patient intention to complete cancer screening tests. The TPB suggested that three elements influenced intention and action; attitudes toward behaviors, subjective norms regarding that behavior and the perceived control over the behavior (Sussman & Gifford, 2019). Sussman and Gifford (2019) suggested that the model can be extended to a varied sequence of influences on the concept of intention and the eventual performance of the desired behavior. This application of TPB suggested that there is flexibility in the directional associations and could support the use of the TPB in the present study. As proposed, the researcher wanted to determine the extent that patient rated provider compassion had a relationship with patient adherence to prescribed cancer screening tests. For the proposed study, the patients rated their provider for their level of compassion during an outpatient clinic visit using the five-item compassion scale on the CG-HAPHS standardized tool. These provider compassion rating results were analyzed

and compared with the patient's electronic medical record, from which the adherence with the cancer screening tests was determined. Although there are three elements the TPB, this research focused on the compassion rating as an influence of the patient's attitude toward the behavior of the cancer screening test. The other key variables that were explored as an influence on the patient's attitude were patient gender and length of relationship with the provider. Additional variables for a future study could include, insurance status and history of past screenings to demonstrate other elements of the TPB that might influence intention. The author wanted to demonstrate a relationship between physician compassion and the patient having positive feelings toward pleasing their provider by adherence to their recommendation for colorectal cancer screening testing.

According to Hagger and Hamilton (2021) the most important factor in completion of a behavior was a person's stated intention to complete it. The feeling of intention had been described through the TPB as influenced by attitude toward the behavior, the individual norms about the particular behavior and perceived control over completing that behavior (Hagger & Hamilton, 2021). According to Sinclair et al. (2016), there was a relationship between a patient's feelings about the compassion of their provider and their likelihood to act on their prescribed treatment course. As a result, compassion of a provider could make a difference in a patient's intention to complete assigned tests. Although, there was support for the concept of patient provider relationships impacting quality of care in the literature, there was a gap in the literature specifically linking the aspect of patient-rated provider compassion to the patient completing assigned cancer screening tests. This study sought to inform that gap through the use of TPB to establish that patient-rated provider compassion as a significant informant of the patient attitude and intention to complete prescribed cancer screening tests.

Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this quantitative study was to examine the relationship between patient-rated provider compassion and patient compliance with prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests. Variables of interest in this study each supported important concepts that may influence the patient's intention to obtain their prescribed colorectal cancer screening test. Colorectal cancer is considered a preventable cancer because there are screening tests that can detect pre-cancerous polyps (Davidson, et al., 2021). Given, that colorectal cancer is the third most common cancer in the United States and this type of cancer had a success rate for cure if detected early, determining ways to increase adherence to colorectal cancer screening tests could add to positive patient quality and lives saved (Harber et al., 2021). The variables that were explored in this study include patient's rated physician compassion score, patient gender, and length of relationship with physician. Compassion appears to be an influential factor in patient adherence (Sinclair et al., 2016). Fuertes et al. (2017) also found that supportive and compassionate relationships between patients and providers led to improved patient outcomes. In addition, Laird and Raudonis (2020) found that there was a higher incidence of colorectal cancer in biological men as opposed to women. Gender has been extensively studied in a variety of care situations to evaluate the impact of patient gender on health behaviors. Although not a consistent finding for genders in terms of adherence, Benner et al. (2017) found that biological females exhibited a higher compliance with medications for diabetes. Whereas, Hussain et al. (2017) found that biological males had a higher compliance with exercise programs after myocardial infarction. These conflicting data

points suggested that patient gender could be an important issue to evaluate in looking at patient characteristics that drove adherence to assigned screening tests. Bussell et al. (2017) suggested that the longer a provider knows a patient, the higher likelihood the ability to develop trust and that trust would positively impact the patient's outcomes. Valery et al. (2020) also found an association between the number of primary care visits and the patient's uptake of prescribed cancer screening. Therefore, the variables I used in this study to explore the impact on patient adherence to colorectal cancer screening included the patient rating of a providers' compassion level, the compliance of that provider's patients with cancer screening tests, patient gender, and length of patient–provider relationship.

Research Design and Rationale

In this study, I employed the quantitative method to determine the relationship between patient-rated provider compassion and patient adherence with appropriate cancer screening tests. The specific cancer screening test selected was colorectal cancer screening because it applies to both males and females. This provided an opportunity to analyze the data to discern the potential impact of gender on the relationship. The independent variable was patient-rated provider compassion, and the dependent variable was patient compliance with prescribed colorectal cancer screening test. I also evaluated length of provider relationship for a mediating effect and patient gender for a moderating effect.

To address the research questions of this study, I used a quasi-experimental design, specifically a time sample approach. Campbell and Stanley (2015) suggested that

this type of design, specifically an equivalent time sample approach, is a common tactic used to collect two sets of measures to compare the effects of an experimental variable. This design applied to the two data elements included in the study: the five-item patient rated compassion index and the patient outcome of adherence to prescribed cancer screening tests.

To examine the relationship between variables, I employed regression analysis with both moderating and mediating variable examinations. This method was suggested based on the types of variables and desired outcomes to be explored through this study (see Pokhariyal, 2019). According to Pokhariyal (2019), the review of mediation and moderation could explain relationships and proportions of variance. The data from the Compassion Scale were continuous, and the data reflecting the patient adherence to their assigned cancer screening test were a binary value, which demonstrated the correct variable patterns for a logistical regression study (see Ranaganthan et al., 2017). The goal of this study was to determine the existence of relationships between patient rated provider compassion and patient adherence with prescribed cancer screening tests with the intervening variables of patient gender and length of relationship between provider and patient. According to Baron and Kenny (1986), behavioral intention is an example of a mediation relationship, and through examining the mediation effects of length of provider and patient relationship on patient-rated provider compassion and the outcome of compliance with prescribed cancer screening tests I sought to determine the impact of length of provider patient relationship on the independent and dependent variables. Baron and Kenny (1986) also described moderating variables as those that can affect the

direction or strength of the relationship and, to that end, gender was examined in the current study. Fang and Fang (2019) used a similar methodology to explore factors that affect patient satisfaction, using a multilevel regression analysis to investigate the various descriptive statistics that could influence patient satisfaction, which supported a similar choice in this study to evaluate variables that impact patient adherence to screening tests.

I used two secondary data sources in this study. Data were collected from the 24 hospital-based outpatient medical clinics where the general internal and family medicine faculty practice in a southern New Jersey health system. The two sources of data were EMRs to abstract the patients' adherence to their prescribed colorectal cancer screening test and the general internal and family medicine practice's patient satisfaction survey results (i.e., the CG CAHPS) to determine the internal and family medicine physician's scores on the five-item Compassion Scale. According to Roberts et al. (2019), this fiveitem patient rating of provider compassion was developed to provide a reliable measure of individual provider compassion and was added to the CG CAHPS survey used in the hospital-based outpatient medical practice study sites. I compared the de-identified secondary data from internal and family medicine provider compassion ratings by their individual patients with the companion secondary data of the same care provider's EMR records of completed cancer screening tests prescribed. The data points that were extracted from the secondary data sources included provider name, provider gender, existence of provider order for colorectal cancer screening, medical office in which patient saw the physician, date of service for patient visit, patient gender, patient age, patient overall physician communication rating of provider, patient overall rating of the

medical practice visit, patient rating of composite provider compassion (and the scores of individual questions from the five-item Compassion Scale include patient rating of how often do you feel your provider cares about your emotional or psychological well-being, how often do you feel your provider is interested you as a whole person, how often do you feel your provider is considerate of your personal needs, how often do you feel your provider is able to gain your trust, and how often do you feel your provider shows you care and compassion), and patient colorectal screening test compliance within the following 12 months from their earliest date of service within the calendar year of 2019.

Methodology

Population

The target population included all patients that had at least one office visit to primary care physicians that practice in the health system-owned offices during 2019 and met the range of target ages (i.e., between 49–75-years-old), which was the current guideline to have a colorectal cancer screening prescribed. The sample included males and females of all ethnicities, English speakers, and those that met and are above the target age of 49-years-old for colorectal cancer screening. The total population size using the criterion above was approximately 10,000 patients evaluated.

Sampling and Sampling Procedures

The exclusion criterion included patients that are 48 years of age and below as well as those visited other practice's locations that are not internal or family medicine physicians. I conducted an a priori power analysis for the study using the G*power software (see Faul et al., 2007). The effect size was estimated using two probabilities, Pr $(Y = 1 | X = 1) H_1$ and Pr $(Y = 1 | X = 1) H_0$. Where Pr $(Y = 1 | X = 1) H_1$ represented the probability of a patient getting colorectal cancer screening when the patient-rated provider compassion score was one standard deviation score above the mean or .55 and where $Pr(Y=1 | X=1) H_0$ represented the probability of a patient getting colorectal cancer screening when the patient rated provider compassion score is at mean or .45. The Type 1 error rate was set at .05, and the power was set at .90. The Type 1 error rate is used to describe the scenario where the null hypothesis is true but incorrectly rejected (Hickey et al., 2018). I followed the usual significance level of .05 or a 5% chance that the results will be significant if the null hypothesis is actually true. The power was set at .9, which suggested that the likelihood of rejecting the null hypothesis when its incorrect was at 90% (see Perugini et al., 2018). The higher power level set for the study required a larger sample size, and this was aligned with the examination of secondary data. Hickey et al. (2018) suggested that if animal research was being conducted, a smaller sample might be in order to limit the sacrifice necessary to achieve a higher power for the study. The covariates are expected to have a low association with patient-rated provider compassion rating, and thus R = .2 and R-squared other X was .04. This assumption about a low association was based on the inconclusive role gender has played in similar studies as well as the lack of information regarding the association of length of relationship and patient outcomes. The X distribution was normal, and the sample size was set at 294. This sample of 294 provided a 90% chance of correctly rejecting the null hypothesis that patient-rated provider compassion was not associated with a patient receiving their prescribed colorectal cancer screening test.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation and Data Collection (Archival Data)

I used two secondary sources in this study. Both were obtained from the hospitalbased general internal and family medicine practice providers and included the EMR documentation regarding colorectal cancer screening and the general internal and family medicine practice's patient satisfaction survey results. According to Roberts et al., (2019) the five-item patient rating of provider compassion in the Compassion Scale was developed to measure individual provider compassion and was added to the CG-CAHPS survey previously used in the medical practice study site. I compared the de-identified secondary data from internal and family medicine providers individual compassion ratings by their patients with the companion secondary data of the same care provider's EMR records of completed cancer screening tests prescribed. Although I had access to this data due to my position in the study site institution, I submitted an application to the hospital's Institutional Review Board (IRB) to obtain access to the specific data required to perform the regression analysis.

Instrumentation and Operationalization of Constructs

The selected instrument for this study was the five-item Compassion Scale that is included in the CG-CAHPS survey administered by Press Ganey in outpatient medical practices. The validated five-item Compassion Scale and takes approximately 2–3 additional minutes to complete. The entire survey was sent out from Press Ganey within 48 hours of receiving notification of the patients' practice visit to all patients that visited the health system's outpatient medical practices, provided they have a mailing or email address available (Roberts et al., 2019). This series of questions provided an objective

measure of a patient's assessment of their provider's compassion (Roberts et al., 2019). Roberts et al. (2019) designed this five-item assessment to have a succinct method to ascertain a patient's perception of their providers' level of compassion during their office visit. The scores from this five-item instrument were shown to demonstrate a patient's impression of their physician's compassion and provided insight to determine if that assessment of compassion has an impact on the patient's behavior to follow that physician's instructions and prescribed follow-up measures. The CG-CAHPS had been confirmed as a consistent tool to provide information about the patient's experience with health services visits and has a reliability rating of Cronbach alpha = 0.88 (Roberts et al., 2019). The five-item Compassion Scale has also been validated through a factor analysis for each question included and an evaluation of the entire questionnaire using a confirmatory factor analysis with all standardize coefficients > 0.80, with its reliability measured by a Cronbach alpha of 0.94 (Roberts et al., 2019). The Compassion Scale provided consistent and reliable results in medical practice, inpatient hospital, and emergency room settings in urban and community hospitals (Roberts et al., 2021); therefore, I deemed it an appropriate measurement tool of physician compassion to include in this study.

The variables that I used in this study were the patient's perception of their provider's compassion, the patient's compliance with prescribed colorectal cancer screening, length of relationship with provider, and patient gender. The patient rating of provider compassion was based on the five-item Compassion Scale, which rates a provider's compassion through the use of five questions with a Likert style rating scale of 0 = never, 50 = sometimes, 75 = usually, and 100 = always (Roberts, et al., 2019). I analyzed the results of this ordinal rating scale in aggregate for each internal and family medicine provider to demonstrate the association of compassion with their particular panel of patients. The patients' compliance with their prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests was evaluated through a result recorded for the patient's prescribed colorectal screening test within the year after it was ordered by the internal or family medicine provider.

I obtained the nominal data by searching the EMR for patients that were associated with the specific internal and family medicine providers, then screening the patients by age category of 49–75-years-old, if they had completed a CG-CAHPS survey with the provider Compassion Scale, and if there was an order for a colorectal cancer screening test (i.e., visual exams or stool-based tests). The final component for this data point was the actual result of the prescribed test to demonstrate it was completed or not completed within the year after the order being entered or by April 2020.

The next variable to be explored was the length of the provider relationship with the patient. Trust is considered an emotion that is important in both quality communication and adherence with a physician's treatment plan, and it was suggested that trust takes time to develop (Ward, 2018). This time to develop trust was proposed as greater than a year of visits with the physician. For the purposes of this study, I assessed length of relationship on an interval scale by reviewing EMRs from 2019 retrospectively for 6 years prior to 2014 to establish if there was a visit between the internal medicine physician and patient in 2014. The EMRs were then searched for visits for each year (i.e., 2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018) to determine when and if the initial visit occurred within 5year time horizon. The patient's length of relationship with the physician was categorized into 5 years and greater (i.e., 2014 as an initial visit), 1–4 years (i.e., 2018, 2017, 2016 as an initial visit), and 1 year and less (2019 as an initial visit). Finally, the nominal variable of patient gender was defined as male, female, and unspecified as recorded in the patient's EMR.

Data Analysis Plan

The data analyses were performed with the latest version of statistical package for social sciences (SPSS) available (Version 28). The data were evaluated for the fields of interest to be properly assembled in the Excel file prior to being exported to SPSS. For the CG-CAHPS, each internal and family medicine provider was linked with their 2019 aggregate score from patient's visit during that year using the five-item composite scale. The EMR entries were coded with a record number in order to anatomize data for both the patient and the physician results as per the approval from the collaborating institution's IRB. The individual patient medical record number was linked to the individual internal and family medicine providers results so that the data were ready for analysis through SPSS. Other data fields that were also examined in this study include, the presence of a physician order for colorectal cancer screening in 2019, a result for this prescribed test by April 2020, patient gender, and patient visits to the provider retrospectively since 2014 to establish the length of relationship between patient and provider. These discrete data fields were reviewed prior to performing the next level of data analysis. If any of the variable fields are missing, the record was not included in the

analysis phase and the total number of records not included will be disclosed in the results section. When the study was completed, the database used to manipulate the data was deleted in order to add another measure of protection of the sensitive data used.

Research Questions and Hypotheses

RQ1: To what extent does patient-rated provider compassion have a relationship with patient adherence behavior for prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests among southern New Jersey primary care patients in 2019–2020?

 H_01 : Higher ratings of provider compassion have no effect on patient adherence behavior for prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests

 H_1 1: Higher ratings of provider compassion impact patient adherence behavior for prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests

RQ2: What is the relationship between patient-rated provider compassion, length of provider–patient relationship, and patient adherence behavior to prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests among southern New Jersey primary care patients in 2019–2020?

 H_02 : Higher ratings of patient-rated provider compassion and longer lengths of provider–patient relationships have no effect patient adherence behavior to prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests H_12 : Higher ratings of patient-rated provider compassion and longer lengths of provider–patient relationships impact patient adherence behavior to prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests RQ3: What is the relationship between patient-rated provider compassion, gender of the patient, and patient adherence behavior to prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests among southern New Jersey primary care patients in 2019–2020?

 H_03 : Higher ratings of patient-rated provider compassion and patient gender have no effect with patient adherence behavior to prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests

 H_1 3: Higher ratings of patient-rated provider compassion and patient gender have a relationship with patient adherence behavior to prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests

Statistical Test

Given the binary description of the dependent variable of patient adherence to prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests, logistical regression was employed to test the hypotheses of interest in this study. The assumptions for this study adopt an epistemological approach that was objectivist in nature to determine a meaningful and objective outcome from the comparative variables (Al-Ababneh, 2020). The review of the data used a quantitative methodology that provided an independent means to evaluate the variables and postulated an objective review of the interrelation of the data points. Through incorporating a deductive process, there was an ability to evaluate the facts as they were presented in the data and then confirm the impacts and associations through experimentation and testing (Ryan, 2018). The assumptions were tested through the logistical regression test, with moderation used for patient gender and mediation used for length of provider relationship. The choice of logistic regression was based on the binary nature of the dependent variable and the desire to create a grouping of independent variables that improved the likelihood of identifying the observed outcome (Stoltzfus, 2011). In fact, according to Stoltzfus (2011), the importance of the independent variables in this model was paramount and they must be based on prior investigations in order to ensure that their inclusion could support testing the hypotheses. Chi-square, as well as a Homer and Lemeshow tests were used for a goodness of fit for the model and a Bonferroni correction was run as appropriate to preserve Type I error of the null hypothesis actually being null with multiple outcomes of the designed study (VanderWeele & Mathur, 2019). The covariates were included to demonstrate an influence of patient gender, which continued to be an inconclusive metric in many health sciences research studies and length of relationship with the physician as a proxy variable for trust in the physician. Trust had been studied in context of colorectal cancer screening and had been suggested to be a variable that is additive to patient's adherence to a physician's treatment plan (Azulay et al., 2019). The results were reported in an odds ratio format in order to support ease of use and communication of the results.

Threats to Validity

External Validity

As internal and external validity were contemplated within a study design, there was a natural tradeoff between internal ability to assess cause and effect and external generalizability of results (Handley et al., 2018). External validity was described as the ability to generalize the results of the experiment outside of the study population

(Warner, 2013). Given the study population was a broad sample of primary care patients, a widely available rating scale of physician compassion was being used for assessment and all of the variables were being evaluated retrospectively, several threats to external validity were addressed through the experimental design. In fact, Handley et al. (2018) suggested that if an intervention was applied to an entire population, the application mimicked real world conditions and could enhance the ability to generalize results. The author argued that the study design and population evaluated and enhanced the generalizability of the study results.

Internal Validity

Since there were many methods to manage internal validity, in this study, sequencing of the variables examined was one technique employed. According to Warner (2013), experimental design could create the ability to suggest a cause-and-effect relationship. This causal relationship examined in a study may have assigned the cause preceding the outcome in question, which could be a method to accomplish internal validity. In this study, the rating of the physician's compassion, was evaluated prior to knowing if the patient completed their colorectal cancer screening test. Thus, supporting internal validity through the manner of creating the subsample to analyze. Another means of supporting internal validity, was to substantiate the causal association with a plausible theory to suggest a relationship could exist (Warner, 2013). For this study, the theory of planned behavior provided such a basis for connection of patient rated provider compassion and patient adherence to prescribed colorectal cancer screening. As the theory suggested, intention was guided by attitudes about the behavior, subjective norms and perceived behavior control (Ajzen, 1985).

Construct Validity

Cronbach alpha analysis were contemplated to ensure validity and reliability of the surveys included in the research. Roberts et al. (2019) suggested that the five-item Compassion Scale measured the physician's ability to portray their compassion to their patients. This survey was independently deemed as a valid and reliable measure of patient rated compassion in order to determine if there is an association with the dependent variable outcome.

Ethical Procedures

The data were obtained by completing an IRB process through both Walden University and the collaborating institution. Since there was an inherent risk in all research for any participants, the study used de-identified data for both patient and physician results included in the analysis. This universal anonymity process for both physician and patient data minimized the ethical concerns that could be raised through comparing individual patient ratings of compassion for their physician and any resulting hard feelings from knowing individual patient rated physician compassion ratings as well. The IRB application for the collaborating institution was filed first, as they were the IRB of record since the data were housed and owned by that institution. Once the approval of the application and the data worksheet came from the collaborating institution IRB protocol 22-132, Form B was filed through Walden University's IRB and they also provided approval (07-26-22-0985070). After a thorough review, both institutions considered this study limited risk and provided a path for expedited review through the collaborating institution and Walden University.

Summary

After an evaluation of substantial literature and research techniques, the quantitative model selected for this study appeared to provide the best method. A quasiexperimental design, that is, a design with no experimental control group, provided an adequate opportunity to control the variables involved. Although the study did not provide an opportunity for the deidentified participants involved, to be randomly assigned to conditions for comparison. The survey instruments that were included in the study have been tested for validity and reliability (Roberts, et al., 2019). The use of logistic regression analysis, supported the planned research outcome of an association between patient rated provider compassion with adherence to prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests due to the type of dependent variable involved and the ability to use individual patient level data. External validity might be difficult to achieve given other influences on the outcome of adherence to colorectal cancer screening, however the research could add to the body of knowledge about the nuanced impact of physician compassion on the behaviors of their patients.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this quasi-experimental research study was to determine the relationship between patient-rated provider compassion and patient adherence to colorectal cancer screening. The following research questions and associated hypotheses guided this study:

RQ1: To what extent does patient-rated provider compassion have a relationship with patient adherence behavior for prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests among southern New Jersey primary care patients in 2019–2020?

 H_01 : Higher ratings of provider compassion have no effect on patient adherence behavior for prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests

 H_1 1: Higher ratings of provider compassion impact patient adherence behavior for prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests

RQ2: What is the relationship between patient-rated provider compassion, length of provider–patient relationship, and patient adherence behavior to prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests among southern New Jersey primary care patients in 2019–2020?

 H_02 : Higher ratings of patient-rated provider compassion and longer lengths of provider–patient relationships have no effect patient adherence behavior to prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests H_12 : Higher ratings of patient-rated provider compassion and longer lengths of provider–patient relationships impact patient adherence behavior to prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests RQ3: What is the relationship between patient-rated provider compassion, gender of the patient, and patient adherence behavior to prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests among southern New Jersey primary care patients in 2019–2020?

 H_03 : Higher ratings of patient-rated provider compassion and patient gender have no effect with patient adherence behavior to prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests

 H_1 3: Higher ratings of patient-rated provider compassion and patient gender have a relationship with patient adherence behavior to prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests

In this chapter, I provide the findings of the analysis conducted to answer each of the research questions. The data sample is described and the covariates are explained in relation to the variety of analyses performed. The variations between the methodology suggested in Chapter 3 and the actual analyses performed are also outlined to provide the rationale for any variation. I obtained the data from a de-identified caboodle database where the collaborating institution's patient-rated provider compassion responses on the CG-HAPHS survey were housed. These data were compared to the collaborating institution's EMRs that supplied the documentation for the patient's length of relationship with their provider, presence of an order for colorectal screening, evidence of completion for the colorectal cancer screening order, and patient gender. The collaborating institution's IRB review provided me with an updated data collection worksheet from the initial data elements that were outlined in Chapter 3. The collaborating institution IRB suggested an additional level of privacy for the physician data included in the data set and requested that both the patient information as planned in Chapter 3 and the associated patient-rated physician Compassion Scale results be deidentified. This was completed by the medical informatics and business intelligence teams at the study prior to being shared with me for analysis.

Data Collection

I obtained the secondary data for this study from survey respondents to the CG-CAHPS who visited family practice or internal medicine, hospital-based, medical practice clinics in southern New Jersey during 2019. The data were derived from visits to 24 clinics and 58 physicians from April 2019–December 2019. The total completed primary care visits during that time period were 106,968. The data plan that I established in Chapter 3 was based on having access to the entirety of the 2019 data; however, the Compassion Scale was added in April 2019, so the data plan was modified to include only primary care clinic visits between April–December 2019 in the analysis. I then screened the data for patients aged 49–75, which represented the age-based screening guidelines for colorectal cancer screening at the time of this study. With this additional data screening criterion added, I then rescreened the data for returned CG-CAHPS surveys. The study site health system usually has return rates for CG-CAHPS surveys that are approximately 11.5%. This additional criterion pared the sample size down to 5,718 age-appropriate patients with a primary care visit who had returned CG-CAHPS surveys. This return rate was similar to the health systems' average return rate. The next criterion that was applied to the data was the evidence of colorectal cancer screening

orders placed by the internal medicine or family medicine physician during their April– December 2019 visit. This last screening element for the data yielded the final data sample of 488 patients.

Table 1 demonstrates the sample's descriptive statistics of average relationship length, average composite Compassion Score, and average age. Table 2 demonstrates the breakdown of colorectal cancer screening completion. With 488 total entries in the sample, 357 completed colorectal cancer screening orders and 131 orders that were not completed. This result yielded a 73.2% screening compliance rate, which was higher than the published national statistics for the general public's compliance with colorectal cancer screening.

Table 1

	Ν	М	SD
Relationship	488	2.4	.763
length			
Group			
composite	488	94.2	13.2
compassion			
score			
Age	488	63.03	7.4

Descriptive Statistics: Original Sample

Table 2

Order	Compl	letion:	0	rig	inal	Sam	pl	e
				• • •				

		Frequency	Percent	Valid	Cumulative
				Percent	Percent
Valid	No screening	131	26.8	26.8	26.8
	Screening	357	73.2	73.2	100
	Total	488	100	100	

In Table 3, the gender breakdown revealed that 295 subjects were female and 193 were male, which is consistent with the customary gender breakdown for those that answer patient satisfaction surveys at the collaborating institution. As stated in Table 2, the average age of the total sample was 63, with the age range between 49 and 76 and a standard deviation of 7.4 years; this average age is consistent with the published averages of those who are compliant with colorectal cancer screening. The above sample characteristics support generalizability to the population at large and are consistent with principles to enhance external validity.

The covariates included in the study represent patient gender, patient-rated compassion composite score, and length of patient-provider relationship. Figure 1 represented the distribution of compassion Composite Scores, demonstrating that the average score for the sample was 94.23. Table 4 described the length of relationship breakdown within the sample, 57.4% of patients having more than a 4-year relationship with their provider, 25.6% of patients having a relationship that ranged from 1 - 4 years, and finally those that are less than a year, represented 17% of the sample. The covariates outlined variables that might affect colorectal cancer screening.

Table 3

		Frequency	Percent	Valid	Cumulative
				Percent	Percent
Valid	Male	290	59.4	59.4	59.4
	Female	198	40.6	40.6	100
	Total	488	100	100	

Gender Distribution: Original Sample

Figure 1

Compassion Composite Score Distribution: Original Sample



Compassion Composite Score

Table 4

Length of Relationship: Original Sample

	Frequency	Percent	Valid	Cumulative
			Percent	Percent
1 year and	83	17.0	17.0	17.0
less				
1–4 years	125	25.6	25.6	42.6
4 years and	280	57.4	57.4	100
greater				
Total	488	100	100	
	1 year and less 1–4 years 4 years and greater Total	Frequency 1 year and 83 less 1–4 years 125 4 years and 280 greater Total 488	FrequencyPercent1 year and8317.0less1–4 years12525.64 years and28057.4greater700100	Frequency Percent Valid Percent 1 year and 83 17.0 17.0 less 1–4 years 125 25.6 25.6 4 years and 280 57.4 57.4 greater 701 488 100 100

Study Results

I performed a binary logistic regression analysis to answer the first research question regarding the impact of patient-rated provider compassion on a patient's completing colorectal cancer screening. The outcome variable of colorectal cancer screening completion was coded 0 = not completed and 1 = completed. The predictor variable included in the model was the response to a survey question regarding patient-rated provider compassion. In the SPSS data file, the variable of patient-rated provider compassion was represented by a composite compassion score that converted the five answers to a 0-100 scale and then averaged those answers to achieve a numerical composite compassion score for each patient's response. This methodology provided a mean score of 94.2 for total compassion composite. I used the binary logistic regression procedure in SPSS 28 to perform the analysis on the data from the 488 cases included in the dataset.

I performed a test of the full model (with composite compassion score as the predictor variable) instead of a constant only or null model, and the results were not statistically significant, $X^2(1) = 0.334$, p = .563 (Table 5). The strength of the explanation of variance of the compassion score and whether colorectal cancer screening was completed was extremely low because the Cox and Snell's $R^2 = .001$ and Nagelkerke's $R^2 = .001$. The Hosmer and Lemeshow test indicated that there was adequate fit for the model because the *p* value > .05 at (p = .325).

Table 5

Omnibus Tests of Model Coefficients: Original Sample

		Chi-square	df	Sig.
Step 1	Step	.334	1	.563
	Block	.334	1	.563
	Model	.334	1	.563

Table 6

Variables in Equation: Original Sample

		В	S.E.	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp	95%	
							(B)	C.I.	
								UL	LL
Step	Compassion	.004	.007	.341	1	.559	1.004	.990	1.019
	score								
1	Constant	.594	.706	.707	1	.400	1.810		

Table 6 contains a summary of the binary logistic regression coefficients and Wald statistic results. Based on these results, Wald = .341 and p = .559, the model did not statistically demonstrate that patient-rated provider compassion made a statistically significant difference on patient adherence to their colorectal cancer screening test. There was also only a slight increase, 1.004 times higher odds, for those patients who rated their provider with higher compassion to have, in turn, completed their colorectal cancer screening test. The confidence interval also included one within the range at 95% (.990–1.019), which demonstrated another indication that the null hypothesis failed to be rejected. Therefore, there was not enough evidence from this analysis to reject the null hypothesis for RQ1.

I anticipated using a binary logistic regression to address RQ2, which explored the relationship between patient-rated provider compassion and length of provider patient relationships with their impact on patient adherence behavior to prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests. The planned analysis was a logistic regression with mediation; however, mediation analysis required the path of variables between patient-rated provider compassion and patient adherence to colorectal cancer screening to demonstrate statistical significance. Therefore, this analysis could not be completed because the initial analysis that evaluated patient-rated provider compassion and patient adherence to colorectal cancer screening to demonstrate scolorectal cancer screening yielded p = .559. The null hypothesis for RQ2 could neither be rejected nor accepted because the original pathway between patient-rated provider compassion and patient adherence with prescribed colorectal cancer screening was found not to be statistically significant.

I performed a binary logistic regression with moderation to address RQ3. The outcome variable for analysis was patient adherence to prescribed colorectal cancer screening. The predictor variable for the analysis was patient-rated provider compassion, and the moderator variable was gender. As described in Table 7, the interaction between patient adherence to prescribed colorectal cancer screening and patient gender was found not to be statistically significant [B = -.011, 95% CI (.990, 1.019), p > .05]. The conditional effect of patient-rated provider compassion on patient adherence to prescribed colorectal cancer screening results. These results indicate that gender was a non-moderator of the relationship between patient-rated provider compassion and patient adherence to prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests.

Table 7

Model		Unstandardized Coefficients		Standardized Coefficients		
		В	St.	Beta	t	Sig.
			Error			
1	(Constant)	.657	.145		4.528	<.001
	INT	011	.020	025	549	.584
	Compassion composite	.001	.002	.024	.520	.603
	score					

Moderation Coefficients: Original Sample

Note. Dependent variable = order completion. INT= Interaction term patient gender and patient rated provider compassion

I completed further analysis, in the form of a post hoc analysis, to dive deeper into the data. In the original analysis, I assumed that the study sample's dependent variable would have a normal distribution of patients who completed their colorectal cancer screening and those that did not complete their colorectal cancer screening. Upon examination of the initial sample distribution, there was an imbalanced sample that demonstrated 72% of all patients included in the 488 had completed their colorectal cancer screening. Since this distribution was imbalanced according to the reported U.S. patient colorectal cancer screening completion rates, I applied a bootstrapping process to the compliance group within the dependent variable to ascertain if a more normally distributed population would impact the strength of the relationship between patient-rated provider compassion and patient adherence to prescribed colorectal cancer screening. The bootstrapping process included running a randomization of the sample of the patients that had received their colorectal screening approximately 20 times to randomly include certain records from the original sample to balance the distribution. I performed a binary logistic regression analysis with a bootstrapped subset of the original sample of 488 patients. As described in Table 8, this subset sample included a total of 298 patients, of which 167 completed their prescribed colorectal cancer screening and the same group from the initial sample that did not complete their colorectal cancer screening at 131.

Table 8

		Frequency	Percent	Valid	Cumulative
				Percent	Percent
Valid	Not completed	131	44.0	44.0	44.0
	Completed	167	56.0	56.0	100.0
	Total	298	100.0	100.0	

Order Completion: Bootstrapped Sample

The post hoc analysis of research question one resulted in a statistically significant result as described in Table 9. A test of the full model (with composite compassion score as the predictor variable) compared with a constant-only or null model was statistically significant, $X^2 = 4.326$, p = .038. The strength of the explanation of variance of the compassion score and whether colorectal cancer screening was completed was low as the Cox and Snell's $R^2 = .014$ and Nagelkerke's $R^2 = .019$. The Hosmer and Lemeshow Test indicated that there was adequate fit for the model as the p value > .05 at (p = .139).

Table 9

Omnibus Tests of Model Coefficients: Bootstrapped Sample

		Chi-square	$d\!f$	Sig.
Step 1	Step	4.326	1	.038
	Block	4.323	1	.038
	Model	4.326	1	.038

Table 10

Variables in the Equation: Bootstrapped Sample

		В	S.E.	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	95% C.I.	
								LL	UL
Step1 ^a	Compassion Composite Score	.022	.011	4.161	1	.041	1.022	1.001	1.043
	Constant	-1.81	1.015	3.185	1	.074	.163		
av Jamiahl.	a antonad an ato	$1 \cdot C_{a}$		Commence	the Car				

^aVariable entered on step 1: Compassion Composite Score

Table 10 summarized the binary logistic regression coefficients and Wald statistic. Based on these data, W = 4.161 and p = .041, the bootstrapped model demonstrated statistical significance that patient rated provider compassion made a significant difference on patient adherence to their colorectal cancer screening test. There was also a slight increase, 1.022 times higher odds, for those patients who rated their provider with higher compassion to have completed their colorectal cancer screening test. The confidence interval was above one with the range at 95%, (1.001-1.043), which demonstrated an indication that the null hypothesis should be rejected. Therefore, there seemed to be evidence to suggest acceptance of the alternative hypothesis for research
question one, which stated that higher ratings of provider compassion might have an impact on patient adherence behavior for prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests.

Summary

A logistic regression analysis was performed on 488 patients to determine if patient rated provider compassion had a relationship with patient adherence for prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests. RQ1 suggested as the alternative hypothesis that higher ratings of provider compassion impact patient adherence behavior for prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests. This hypothesis was rejected as p = .559 and the null hypothesis of higher ratings of provider compassion have no effect on patient adherence behavior for prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests. The RQ2 posited the relationship between patient-rated provider compassion, length of provider patient relationship and patient adherence behavior to prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests. This analysis planned to use length of patient provider relationship as a mediating variable, however it was not able to be conducted due to the pathway related to patientrated provider compassion and patient adherence to colorectal cancer screening not having a statistically significant relationship. Thus, the alternative and null hypotheses related to the impact of patient rated provider compassion and longer lengths of provider patient relationships could not be explored. RQ3 evaluated the relationship between patient-rated provider compassion, gender of the patient and patient adherence behavior to prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests. A moderation analysis was performed to examine if patient gender had any relationship with patient rated provider compassion and the adherence to colorectal cancer screening. The interaction between patient

adherence to prescribed colorectal cancer screening and patient gender was found not to be statistically significant [B = -.011, 95% C. I. (.990, 1.019), p > .05]. Therefore, the null hypothesis of higher ratings of patient rated provider compassion and patient gender have no effect with patient adherence behavior to prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests must be accepted.

The initial data analysis demonstrated through the tests performed, that a post hoc analysis could be useful in fully understanding the data sample. This additional analysis specifically evaluated RQ1 through a bootstrapping technique that balanced the initial sample to normal distribution of those who completed colorectal cancer screening and those who did not complete the screening. This analysis demonstrated statistical significance that patient-rated provider compassion made a significant difference on patient adherence to their colorectal cancer screening test p = .041. Thus, with a bootstrapped sample of 298 patients who were normally distributed between those who received colorectal cancer screening tests and those who did not, the alternative hypothesis of higher ratings of provider compassion impact patient adherence behavior for prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests could be accepted. Additional discussion of these findings will be discussed further in Chapter five

Chapter 5: Discussions, Conclusions, and Recommendations

In this chapter, I discuss the outcomes of the study as they relate to the relevant literature, the limitations of the study, the recommendations for future contemplation, and implications for social change. In this quantitative, quasi-experimental study, I determined the relationship between patient-rated provider compassion and patient adherence with their prescribed colorectal cancer screening. Colorectal cancer was the second leading cause of cancer death in the United States at the time of this study. (Ladabaum et al., 2020). Thus, determining effective contributing factors to inspire early detection could positively impact general health care quality. Physician compassion could be one of those important elements in patient decision making regarding cancer screening completion. Huei-yu Wang et al. (2018) found that patients were influenced by physician communication about adherence to preventative cancer screening. In this study, I sought to address a gap in the literature regarding the element of physician compassion and whether that impacted patient adherence with colorectal cancer screening tests. Other variables explored were provider–patient length of relationship and patient gender.

I used existing data sets for this analysis, including respondents to the CG-CAHPS survey and comparison of those respondents linked EMR data to ascertain if the patient had completed their colorectal cancer screening. The outcome variable was whether the patient had completed colorectal cancer screening. The primary predictor variables were patient-rated provider compassion, patient gender, and patient physician length of relationship. The results of the study demonstrated that the initial sample revealed no impact of patient-rated provider compassion, gender, or length of provider– patient relationship on patient adherence behavior to prescribed colorectal cancer screening tests. Since the data set did not follow the expected population distribution for colorectal cancer screening completion, I conducted a bootstrapping analysis on the completion subset of the initial patient sample of 488 to determine if normalization of the completion rates would impact the significance of the results. The data sample had a high rate (72%) of patients who had completed their colorectal cancer screening, so a post hoc analysis was run to evaluate a normalized distribution for patients' completion and determined a statistically significant result of p = .041.

Interpretation of the Findings

The high average patient-rated provider compassion score (94.23), the moderate length of relationship average at 2.4 years, and the very high overall compliance rate for colorectal cancer screening (72.3%) for this sample provided a different starting point for the analysis then was originally expected. According to Roberts et al (2019), 71.3% of the patients included in the original study rated their provider with a 100% compassion score, meaning that the patients rated their provider with the *always* category for the fiveitem Compassion Scale. In this study, 75.8% of the patients in the 488-person sample rated their provider with a perfect (100%) compassion score. This high baseline compassion score among the patient sample, combined with the high compliance rate for colorectal cancer among the patient sample (72.3%), created a sample in which statistical significance may have been difficult to discern. The National Cancer Institute (2022) suggested that U.S. compliance with colorectal screening rates for 2019 were on average 68%. Peterson (2021) described several normalization techniques that could be employed with a similar covariate distribution to the study data set and suggested that the results may appear entirely different. Pons (2007) suggested that bootstrapping might be a technique to use to provide a suitable sample estimate for resampling within a nonnormalized data set.

The results found seemed incongruent with the prevailing literature related to the covariates of interest in this study. Hesse and Raucher (2019) suggested that augmented quality of care from adherence to screening behaviors could be achieved through compassionate provider-patient relationships. Singh et al. (2018) supported that claim through findings related to increased patient compliance if the patient considered the physician compassionate. Valery et al. (2020) also found that the number of visits to the patient's primary care physician positively impacted patient adherence to colorectal cancer screening. All these studies from the literature review in Chapter 2 supported the hypotheses in the two research questions that addressed how physician compassion and length of relationship with the physician impacted patient compliance behavior. The variable of gender was ambiguous in the literature because an effect was not detected universally. Mehra and Mishra (2021) found a female patient impact with higher degree of communication, whereas Fortuna et al. (2018) found that gender had no impact on adherence and patient satisfaction. Thus, the findings in the current study were aligned with the findings in the literature of no statistically significant impact from a gender perspective on adherence to prescribed treatments from a physician.

According to the TPB, the intention to complete a behavior can be influenced through perceived behavioral control, attitude toward performing the behavior, and subjective norms around the behavior (Ajzen, 2020). The results of the current study might suggest that the study population had a high degree of perceived control over behavior accomplishment as evidenced by the high completion rate for colorectal cancer screening. This result was consistent with other cancer screening studies where the TPB was applied, including in mammography and cervical cancer (Mirzaei-Alavijeh et al., 2018; Roncancio et al., 2015). Thus, high behavioral control as a key variable to adherence was an important finding in the study.

Limitations of the Study

A limitation that was described in Chapter 1 was that the sample may have been unbalanced due to too many responses received for one physician that may have skewed the compassion results and impacted the external validity of the study. The actual limitation that was uncovered through the study related to the number of perfect scores given by patients within the sample. Out of the sample, 75.8% of the patients gave a perfect score (100%) to their physician, whereas the original study from 2019 demonstrated 71.3% of patients gave a perfect score to their physician. This increase in the overall compassion score could be a limitation for generalizability to those outside of internal medicine and family practice specialties and outside the hospital-owned practice at the study site.

Another limitation discussed in Chapter 1 was the impact of COVID-19 elective procedure shut down for colonoscopies during the study period. This limitation was founded because the study period was limited to April–December 2019 for patients having their initial visit to a primary care physician as part of the inclusion in the study data. This was due to the Compassion Scale being added to the CG-CAHPS in April 2019. The decline attributed to COVID-19 has been deemed profound, particularly in colorectal cancer screening (Chen et al., 2021). This effect, although minimal in the study data due to the higher than national average results of screening found in the original sample, could have had an impact on even more patients obtaining their colorectal cancer screening. Chen et al. (2021) also found that the northeastern United States had a more significant influence of this COVID-19 effect. Since the study was conducted in the northeastern United States, it seems that this limitation presented a significant challenge to the overall integrity of the data. Since the results of the current study were counter to those in the literature, there may be a need to evaluate the study sample to perhaps normalize the data for those patients who completed their colorectal cancer screening. Although insurance status was not a covariate of interest, Zhao et al. (2018) found that insurance status does affect uptake to cancer screening tests. The insurance status of participants may have also affected the current study sample.

Recommendations

There could be an opportunity to replicate this study in a time period that does not include the COVID-19 pause of elective testing to increase the generalizability of the colorectal cancer screening rates. These rates, although high for this study sample, could have been even higher if not negatively impacted by the COVID-19 shutdown. Another recommendation would be to focus the covariate analysis on number of visits to the primary care physician instead of length of relationship. This measure was found in the literature related to colorectal cancer screening and could be a more accurate predictor variable for colorectal cancer screening completion (Valery et al., 2020). Additionally, examining each individual question of the five-item Compassion Scale for their impact on colorectal cancer screening, instead of evaluating a composite score of all of the questions, may have provided more precise impact effects of the aspects of provider compassion. Finally, insurance status may be another aspect to explore in future studies to determine the influence on colorectal cancer screening.

Implications

Although the study did not result in statistically significant results between patient-rated provider compassion and patient adherence to prescribed colorectal cancer screening, the findings remained encouraging on an individual level to create positive social change. According to the TPB, individual behavioral control is a key element in patients adhering to assigned cancer screening tests (Mirzaei-Alavijeh et al., 2018). That finding was supported through this study, which adds to the body of knowledge regarding patients in a supportive care relationship did take positive action to complete assigned screening tests. This finding is important for health systems because they work with their providers and patients. For providers, a supportive care environment that focused on patient action led to 72.3% of patients obtaining a life-saving cancer screening. For patients, the importance of their intention to complete colorectal cancer screening was confirmed.

Conclusion

Colorectal cancer was the focus of this study because it is one of the most treatable cancers with early detection (see Laird et al., 2020). I conducted this study because the determination of associated factors that can positively impact a patient's likelihood of compliance with colorectal cancer screening would lead to positive social change through increasing the overall quality of health care. A compassionate and supportive relationship with a physician has been studied as key impactful element affecting screening compliance. This supportive relationship is built over time and, therefore, I explored the length of the patient–provider relationship and provider compassion to determine if these elements had an association with patient adherence to colorectal cancer screening. In addition, gender was explored as another variable of interest.

Although patient-rated provider compassion and length of patient provider relationship did not statistically significantly impact adherence to colorectal cancer screening, the 75.8% perfect provider compassion scores and the 73.2% adherence to colorectal cancer screening pointed to a supportive care environment being a critical factor for patients who took direct action to support their personal health. This finding was important and reinforces messages for providers and health systems about the importance of a supportive physician–patient relationships. Health system promotion of compassionate physician communication and relationships with their medical practice patients can positively impact patient quality outcomes. Ladabaum (2020) suggested that 46%–63% less deaths might have occurred if people received timely colorectal cancer screening. The study finding that an affirmative care environment was shown to be another key to supporting positive patient action regarding their disease prevention activities. Positive social change and the saving of lives can be achieved through the establishment of one positive patient–provider relationship at a time.

References

Ajzen, I. (1985). From intentions to actions: A theory of planned behavior. In Action control (pp. 11-39). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-69746-3_2

Ajzen, I. (2015). The theory of planned behaviour is alive and well, and not ready to retire: A commentary on Sniehotta, Presseau and Araujo-Sores. *Health Psychology Review*, 9(2), 131-137.

https://doi.org/10.1080/17437199.2014.883474

- Ajzen, I. (2020). The theory of planned behavior: Frequently asked questions. *Human Behavior and Emerging Technologies*, 2(4), 314-324. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/hbe2.195</u>
- Ajzen, I., & Schmidt, P. (2020). Changing behavior using the theory of planned behavior. In M. Hagger, L. Cameron, K. Hamilton, N. Hankonen, & T. Lintunen (Eds.), *The handbook of behavior change* (pp. 17 - 31). Cambridge University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/9781108677318.001</u>
- Al-Ababneh, M. M. (2020). Linking ontology, epistemology and research methodology. Science & Philosophy, 8(1), 75-91. <u>https://doi.org/10.23756/sp.v8i1.500</u>
- Amutio-Kareaga, A., García-Campayo, J., Delgado, L.C., Hermosilla, D., & Martínez-Taboada, C. (2017). Improving communication between physicians and their patients through mindfulness and compassion-based strategies: A narrative review. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 6(3), 33.

https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm6030033

Anghel, L. A., Farcaş, A. M., & Oprean, R. N. (2018). Medication adherence and persistence in patients with autoimmune rheumatic diseases: A narrative review. *Patient Preference and Adherence*, *12*, 1151.
https://doi.org/10.2147/PPA.S165101

Azulay, R., Valinsky, L., Hershkowitz, F., & Magnezi, R. (2019). Repeated automated mobile text messaging reminders for follow-up of positive fecal occult blood tests: Randomized controlled trial. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 7(2).

https://doi.org/10.2196/11114

- Bachman, A. S., Cohen, E. L., Collins, T., Hatcher, J., Crosby, R., & Vanderpool, R. C. (2018). Identifying communication barriers to colorectal cancer screening adherence among Appalachian Kentuckians. *Health Communication*, *33*(10), 1284-1292. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2017.1351274</u>
- Baron, R. M., & Kenny, D. A. (1986). The moderator–mediator variable distinction in social psychological research: Conceptual, strategic, and statistical considerations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 51(6), 1173.
- Bener, A., Keskin, F. E., Kurtulus, E. M., Guzel, M., Çekirdekçi, E. I., Kadıoğlu, P., Konukoğlu, D., & Öztürk, M. (2017). Essential parameters and risk factors of the patients for diabetes care and treatment. *Diabetes & Metabolic Syndrome*, 11(Suppl 1), S315–S320. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dsx.2017.03.008
- Buhmann, A., & Brønn, P. S. (2018). Applying Ajzen's theory of planned behavior to predict practitioners' intentions to measure and evaluate communication outcomes. *Corporate Communications: An International Journal*. 23(3), 377-391.

https://doi.org/10.1108/CCIJ-11-2017-0107

Bussell, J. K., Cha, E., Grant, Y. E., Schwartz, D. D., & Young, L. A. (2017). Ways health care providers can promote better medication adherence. *Clinical Diabetes*, 35(3), 171-177. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/cd016-0029</u>

Callow, M. A., & Callow, D. D. (2021). Older adults' behavior intentions once a
COVID-19 vaccine becomes available. *Journal of Applied Gerontology*, 40(9), 943–952. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/07334648211019205</u>

- Chen, R. C., Haynes, K., Du, S., Barron, J., & Katz, A. J. (2021). Association of cancer screening deficit in the United States with the COVID-19 pandemic. *JAMA Oncology*, 7(6), 878-884. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2021.0884</u>
- Davidson, K. W., Barry, M. J., Mangione, C. M., Cabana, M., Caughey, A. B., Davis, E. M., Donahue, K. E., Doubeni, C. A., Krist, A. H., Kubik, M., & Li, L. (2021).
 Screening for colorectal cancer: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force recommendation statement. *JAMA*, *325*(19), 1965-1977.
 https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2021.6238
- Dougherty, M. K., Brenner, A. T., Crockett, S. D., Gupta, S., Wheeler, S. B., Coker-Schwimmer, M., Cubillos, L., Malo, T. & Reuland, D. S. (2018). Evaluation of interventions intended to increase colorectal cancer screening rates in the United States: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *178*(12), 1645-1658. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2018.4637
- Elsous, A., Radwan, M., Al-Sharif, H., & Abu Mustafa, A. (2017). Medications adherence and associated factors among patients with Type 2 diabetes mellitus in

the Gaza Strip, Palestine. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, *8*, 100. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2017.00100

- Faisal, A., Ahmad, M. S., Thurasamy, R., & Ahmed, R. (2020). Doctors' interactions with pharmaceutical sales representatives: Modelling doctors' prescription behaviour. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 56(3), 456–463. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10597-019-00501</u>
- Fang, J., Liu, L., & Fang, P. (2019). What is the most important factor affecting patient satisfaction–A study based on gamma coefficient. *Patient Preference and Adherence*, 13, 515. <u>https://doi.org/10.2147/PPA.S197015</u>
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A. G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G* Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, *39*(2), 175-191. https://doi.org/10.3758/bf03193146
- Fernando, A. T., III., & Consedine, N. S. (2017). Barriers to medical compassion as a function of experience and specialization: Psychiatry, pediatrics, internal medicine, surgery, and general practice. *Journal of Pain and Symptom Management*, 53(6), 979-987. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2016.12.324</u>
- Ferreira, G., & Pereira, M. G. (2017). Physical activity: The importance of the extended theory of planned behavior, in Type 2 diabetes patients. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 22(10), 1312–1321. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1359105315626787</u>
- Fuertes, J. N., Toporovsky, A., Reyes, M., & Osborne, J. B. (2017). The physicianpatient working alliance: Theory, research, and future possibilities. *Patient*

Education and Counseling, 100(4), 610-615. https://doi.org/

10.1016/j.pec.2016.10.018

- Fortuna, R. J., Nagel, A. K., Rocco, T. A., Legette-Sobers, S., & Quigley, D. D. (2018). Patient experience with care and its association with adherence to hypertension medications. *American Journal of Hypertension*, 31(3), 340-345. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajh/hpx200
- Freeman-Hildreth, Y., Aron, D., Cola, P. A., & Wang, Y. (2018). Coping with diabetes: Healthcare provider attributes that influence Type 2 diabetes adherence. *Academy* of Management Proceedings, 1, 17212.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0214713

- Ghai, N. R., Jensen, C. D., Merchant, S. A., Schottinger, J. E., Lee, J. K., Chubak, J.,
 Kamineni, A., Halm, E. A., Skinner, C. S., Haas, J. S., Green, B. B., Cannizzaro,
 N. T., Schneider, J. L., & Corley, D. A. (2020). Primary care provider beliefs and
 recommendations about colorectal cancer screening in four healthcare systems. *Cancer Prevention Research*, *13*(11), 947–958. <u>https://doi.org/10.1158/1940-</u>
 6207.CAPR-20-0109
- Ghimire, S., Castelino, R. L., Jose, M. D., & Zaidi, S. T. R. (2017). Medication adherence perspectives in haemodialysis patients: A qualitative study. *BMC Nephrology*, 18(1), 1-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12882-017-0583-9</u>
- Godin, G., & Kok, G. (1996). The theory of planned behavior: A review of its applications to health-related behaviors. *American Journal of Health Promotion*, 11(2), 87-98. <u>https://doi.org/10.4278/0890-1171-11.2.87</u>

- Goetz, J. L., Keltner, D., & Simon-Thomas, E. (2010). Compassion: An evolutionary analysis and empirical review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 136(3), 351–374. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0018807</u>
- Goto, E., Ishikawa, H., Okuhara, T., & Kiuchi, T. (2018). Relationship between health literacy and adherence to recommendations to undergo cancer screening and health-related behaviors among insured women in Japan. *Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention*, 19(12), 3409–3413.

https://doi.org/10.31557/APJCP.2018.19.12.3409

- Grob, R., Darien, G., & Meyers, D. (2019). Why physicians should trust in patients. *JAMA*, *321*(14), 1347-1348. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2019.1500.</u>
- Gu, J., Cavanagh, K., Baer, R., & Strauss, C. (2017). An empirical examination of the factor structure of compassion. *PLOS One*, *12*(2), e0172471. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0172471</u>

Hagger, M. S., & Hamilton, K. (2021). Effects of socio-structural variables in the theory of planned behavior: a mediation model in multiple samples and behaviors. *Psychology & Health*, 36(3), 307-333. https://doi.org/

10.1080/08870446.2020.1784420

Handley, M. A., Lyles, C. R., McCulloch, C., & Cattamanchi, A. (2018). Selecting and improving quasi-experimental designs in effectiveness and implementation research. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 39, 5-25. <u>https://doi.org/</u> <u>10.1146/annurev-publhealth-040617-014128.</u> Harper, D. M., Tariq, M., Alhawli, A., Syed, N., Patel, M., & Resnicow, K. (2021).
Cancer risk perception and physician communication behaviors on cervical cancer and colorectal cancer screening. *ELife*, *10*. <u>https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.70003</u>

Harber, I., Zeidan, D., & Aslam, M. N. (2021). Colorectal Cancer Screening: Impact of COVID-19 pandemic and possible consequences. *Life*, 11(12), 1297. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/life11121297</u>

- Hesse, C., & Rauscher, E. A. (2019). The relationships between doctor-patient affectionate communication and patient perceptions and outcomes. *Health Communication*, 34(8), 881-891. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10410236.2018.1439269</u>
- Heinze, K., Suwanabol, P. A., Vitous, C. A., Abrahamse, P., Gibson, K., Lansing, B., & Mody, L. (2020). A survey of patient perspectives on approach to health care: focus on physician competency and compassion. *Journal of Patient Experience*, 1044–1053. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2374373520968447</u>
- Hickey, G. L., Grant, S. W., Dunning, J., & Siepe, M. (2018). Statistical primer: sample size and power calculations—why, when and how? *European Journal of Cardio-Thoracic Surgery*, 54(1), 4-9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ejcts/ezy169</u>
- Horne, J., Madill, J., & Gilliland, J. (2017). Incorporating the 'theory of planned behavior' into personalized healthcare behavior change research: A call to action. *Personalized Medicine*, 14(6), 521-529. <u>https://doi.org/10.2217/pme-2017-0038</u>
- Huang, J., Wang, J., Pang, T.W.Y., Chan, M.K.Y., Leung, S., Chen, X., Leung, C.,Zheng, Z.J. and Wong, M.C.S. (2020). Does theory of planned behaviour play a role in predicting uptake of colorectal cancer screening? A cross-sectional study

in Hong Kong. BMJ open, 10(8), Article e037619.

https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-037619

- Huei-yu Wang, J., Ma, G. X., Wenchi Liang, Yin Tan, Makambi, K. H., Roucheng Dong, Vernon, S. W., Shin-Ping Tu, & Mandelblatt, J. S. (2018). Physician intervention and chinese americans' colorectal cancer screening. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 42(1), 13–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.5993/AJHB.42.1.2</u>
- Hussain, S., Jamal, S. Z., & Qadir, F. (2018). Medication adherence in post myocardial infarction patients. *Journal of Ayub Medical College Abbottabad*, *30*(4), 551-556.
- Jeffrey, D. (2016). Empathy, sympathy and compassion in healthcare: Is there a problem?
 Is there a difference? Does it matter? *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine*, 109(12), 446-452. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0141076816680120</u>
- Joseph, D. A., King, J. B., Dowling, N. F., Thomas, C. C., & Richardson, L. C. (2020). Vital signs: Colorectal cancer screening test use—United States, 2018. *Morbidity* and Mortality Weekly Report, 69(10), 253.

http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6910a1

Keulen, M. H. F., Teunis, T., Kortlever, J. T. P., Vagner, G. A., Ring, D., & Reichel, L.
M. (2020). Measurement of perceived physician empathy in orthopedic patients. *Journal of Patient Experience*, 7(4), 600–606.

https://doi.org/10.1177/2374373519875842

Kerasidou, A., Bærøe, K., Berger, Z., & Brown, A. E. C. (2021). The need for empathetic healthcare systems. *Journal of medical ethics*, 47(12), e27-e27. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/medethics-2019-105921</u> Kumah, E., Osei-Kesse, F., & Anaba, C. (2017). Understanding and using patient experience feedback to improve health care quality: Systematic review and framework development. *Journal of Patient-Centered Research and Reviews*, 4(1), 24. https://doi.org/ 10.17294/2330-0698.1416

Ladabaum, U., Dominitz, J. A., Kahi, C., & Schoen, R. E. (2020). Strategies for colorectal cancer screening. *Gastroenterology*, 158(2), 418-432. <u>https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2019.06.043</u>

- Liang, S. Y., Eaton, L., Chung, S., & Luft, H. (2017). Impact of physician practice style on costs, clinical quality, patient experience, physician productivity, and physician time. *Journal of Patient-Centered Research and Reviews*, 4(3), 153-154.
- Limandri, B. J. (2020). Negotiating a medication treatment plan. *Journal of Psychosocial Nursing & Mental Health Services*, 58(9), 9-12.

https://doi.org/10.3928/02793695-20200814-01

Lin, C., Clark, R., Tu, P., Bosworth, H. B., & Zullig, L. L. (2017). Breast cancer oral anti-cancer medication adherence: A systematic review of psychosocial motivators and barriers. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 165(2), 247-260. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-017-4317-2</u>

Lynn, B., Hatry, A., Burnett, C., Kan, L., Olatunbosun, T., & Bluman, B. (2018).
Identifying primary care physicians continuing education needs by examining clinical practices, attitudes, and barriers to screening across multiple cancers. *Journal of Cancer Education: The Official Journal of the American*

Association for Cancer Education, 33(6), 1255–1262. https://doi.org/

<u>10.1007/s13187-017-1240-5</u>

- Malenfant, S., Jaggi, P., Hayden, K. A., & Sinclair, S. (2022). Compassion in healthcare: An updated scoping review of the literature. *BMC Palliative Care*, 21(1), 1-28. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12904-022-00942-3</u>
- Mascaro, J. S., Florian, M. P., Ash, M. J., Palmer, P. K., Frazier, T., Condon, P., & Raison, C. (2020). Ways of knowing compassion: How do we come to know, understand, and measure compassion when we see it? *Frontiers in Psychology*, *11*, 2467. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.547241</u>
- Meester, R. G., Peterse, E. F., Knudsen, A. B., de Weerdt, A. C., Chen, J. C., Lietz, A. P., Dwyer, A., Ahnen, D. J., Siegel, R. L., Smith, R. A. and Zauber, A. G. (2018).
 Optimizing colorectal cancer screening by race and sex: Microsimulation analysis II to inform the American Cancer Society colorectal cancer screening guideline. *Cancer*, *124*(14), 2974-2985. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.31542</u>
- Mehra, P., & Mishra, A. (2021). Role of communication, influence, and satisfaction in patient recommendations of a physician. *Vikalpa*, 46(2), 99-111.

https://doi.org/10.1177/02560909211027090

- Mirzaei-Alavijeh, M., Ahmadi-Jouybari, T., Vaezi, M., & Jalilian, F. (2018). Prevalence, cognitive and socio-demographic determinants of prostate cancer screening. *Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention*, *19*(4), 1041–1046. https://doi.org/10.22034/APJCP.2018.19.4.1041
- Moss, J., Roberts, M. B., Shea, L., Jones, C. W., Kilgannon, H., Edmondson, D. E.,

Trzeciak, S., & Roberts, B. W. (2019). Healthcare provider compassion is associated with lower PTSD symptoms among patients with life-threatening medical emergencies: A prospective cohort study. *Intensive Care Medicine*, *45*(6), 815–822. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00134-019-05601-5

- Murphy, C. C., Sigel, B.M., Yang, E., Skinner, C. S., Halm, E. A., Gupta, S., Sanders, J.
 M., McCallister, K. and Singal, A. G. (2018.) Adherence to colorectal cancer screening measured as the proportion of time covered. *Gastrointestinal Endoscopy*, 88(2), 323-331. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gie.2018.02.023</u>
- Nisson, C., & Earl, A. (2020). The theories of reasoned action and planned behavior. *The Wiley Encyclopedia of Health Psychology*, 755-761. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9781119057840.ch129</u>
- Orom, H., Underwood, W., III, Cheng, Z., Homish, D. L., & Scott, I. (2018).
 Relationships as medicine: Quality of the physician-patient relationship determines physician influence on treatment recommendation adherence. *Health Services Research*, *53*(1), 580–596. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.12629</u>
- Patel, S., Pelletier-Bui, A., Smith, S., Roberts, M. B., Kilgannon, H., Trzeciak, S., & Roberts, B. W. (2019). Curricula for empathy and compassion training in medical education: A systematic review. *PLOS ONE*, *14*(8), 1–25.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0221412

Perugini, M., Gallucci, M., & Costantini, G. (2018). A practical primer to power analysis for simple experimental designs. *International Review of Social Psychology*, 31(1). <u>http://doi.org/10.5334/irsp.181</u>

- Peterson, R. A. (2021). Finding optimal normalizing transformations via best normalize. *R Journal*, *13*(1).
- Peterson, E. B., Ostroff, J. S., DuHamel, K. N., D'Agostino, T. A., Hernandez, M., Canzona, M. R. and Bylund, C. L. (2016). Impact of provider-patient communication on cancer screening adherence: A systematic review. *Preventive Medicine*, 93, 96-105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2016.09.034</u>
- Pokhariyal, G. P. (2019). Importance of moderating and intervening variables on the relationship between independent and dependent variables. *International Journal of Statistics and Applied Mathematics*, *4*(5), 1-4.
- Pons, O. (2007). Bootstrap of means under stratified sampling. *Electronic Journal of Statistics*, *1*, 381-391. <u>https://doi.org/10.1214/07-EJS033</u>
- Riley, R. D., Ensor, J., Snell, K. I., Harrell, F. E., Martin, G. P., Reitsma, J. B., Moons, K. G., Collins, G. and Van Smeden, M., 2020. Calculating the sample size required for developing a clinical prediction model. *BMJ*, *368*.

https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.m441

- Roberts, B. W., Roberts, M. B., Mazzarelli, A., & Trzeciak, S. (2021). Validation of a 5item tool to measure patient assessment of clinician compassion in hospitals. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 1-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12873-019-</u> 0279-5
- Roberts, B. W., Roberts, M. B., Yao, J., Bosire, J., Mazzarelli, A., & Trzeciak, S. (2019).
 Development and validation of a tool to measure patient assessment of clinical compassion. *JAMA Network Open*, 2(5), e193976-e193976.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.3976

Rodriguez, A. M., & Lown, B. A. (2019). Measuring compassionate healthcare with the 12-item Schwartz Center Compassionate Care Scale. *PLOS One*, *14*(9), Article e0220911. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0220911</u>

Roncancio, A. M., Ward, K. K., Sanchez, I. A., Cano, M. A., Byrd, T. L., Vernon, S. W. Fernandez-Esquer, M. E. and Fernandez, M. E. (2015). Using the theory of planned behavior to understand cervical cancer screening among Latinas. *Health Education & Behavior*, 42(5), 621-626.

https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1090198115571364

- Ryan, G. (2018). Introduction to positivism, interpretivism and critical theory. *Nurse Researcher*, 25(4), 41-49. <u>http://doi.org/10.7748/nr.2018.e1466</u>
- Sabapathi, P., Roberts, M. B., Fuller, B. M., Puskarich, M. A., Jones, C. W., Kilgannon,
 J. H., Braz, V., Creel-Bulos, C., Scott, N., Tester, K. L. and Mazzarelli, A. (2019).
 Validation of a 5-item tool to measure patient assessment of clinician compassion
 in the emergency department. *BMC Emergency Medicine*, *19*(1), 1-7.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12873-019-0279-5

- Schwartz D. D, Stewart S. D, Aikens J. E, Bussell J. K, Osborn C. Y, Safford M. M. Seeing the person, not the illness: Promoting diabetes medication adherence through patient-centered collaboration. *Clinical Diabetes*, 35(1), 35–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.2337/cd16-0007</u>
- Sinclair, S., Beamer, K., Hack, T. F., McClement, S., Raffin Bouchal, S., Chochinov, H. M., & Hagen, N. A. (2017). Sympathy, empathy, and compassion: A grounded

theory study of palliative care patients' understandings, experiences, and preferences. *Palliative Medicine*, *31*(5), 437-447.

http://doi.org/10.1177/0269216316663499

- Sinclair, S., Hack, T. F., Raffin-Bouchal, S., McClement, S., Stajduhar, K., Singh, P., Hagen, N. A., Sinnarajah, A. & Chochinov, H. M. (2018). What are healthcare providers' understandings and experiences of compassion? The healthcare compassion model: A grounded theory study of healthcare providers in Canada. *BMJ Open*, 8(3), Article e019701. <u>http://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019701</u>
- Sinclair, S., Kondejewski, J., Schulte, F., Letourneau, N., Kuhn, S., Raffin-Bouchal, S., Guilcher, G. M. & Strother, D. (2020). Compassion in pediatric healthcare: A scoping review. *Journal of pediatric nursing*, *51*, 57-66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedn.2019.12.009
- Sinclair, S., Norris, J. M., McConnell, S. J., Chochinov, H. M., Hack, T. F., Hagen, N. A., McClement, S. and Bouchal, S. R. (2016). Compassion: a scoping review of the healthcare literature. *BMC Palliative Care*, 15(1), 1-16.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12904-016-0080-0

- Singh, P., King-Shier, K., & Sinclair, S. (2018). The colours and contours of compassion: A systematic review of the perspectives of compassion among ethnically diverse patients and healthcare providers. *PLOS One*, *13*(5), Article e0197261. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0197261
- Singh, P., Raffin-Bouchal, S., McClement, S., Hack, T.F., Stajduhar, K., Hagen, N.A., Sinnarajah, A., Chochinov, H.M. and Sinclair, S. (2018). Healthcare providers'

perspectives on perceived barriers and facilitators of compassion: results from a grounded theory study. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 27(9-10), 2083-2097. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.14357</u>

Snyderman, R., & Gyatso, T. (2019). Compassion and health care: A discussion with the Dalai Lama. Academic Medicine, 94(8), 1068-1070. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/ACM.00000000002709</u>

Stoltzfus, J. C. (2011). Logistic regression: A brief primer. Academic Emergency Medicine, 18(10), 1099-1104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1553-2712.2011.01185.x</u>

Sussman, R., & Gifford, R. (2019). Causality in the theory of planned behavior. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 45(6), 920-933. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0146167218801363</u>

Tanco, K., Rhondali, W., Perez-Cruz, P., Tanzi, S., Chisholm, G. B., Baile, W., Frisbee-Hume, S., Williams, J., Masino, C., Cantu, H. and Sisson, A. (2015). Patient perception of physician compassion after a more optimistic vs a less optimistic message: A randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Oncology*, 1(2), 176-183. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2014.297

Taylor, B. A., LeBlanc, L. A., & Nosik, M. R. (2018). Compassionate care in behavior analytic treatment: Can outcomes be enhanced by attending to relationships with caregivers? *Behavior Analysis in Practice*, 12(3), 654–666.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s40617-018-00289-3

Tierney, S., Seers, K., Reeve, J., & Tutton, L. (2017). Appraising the situation: A framework for understanding compassionate care. *Journal of Compassionate*

Health Care, 4(1), 1-8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40639-016-0030-y</u>

Trzeciak, S., Roberts, B. W., & Mazzarelli, A. J. (2017). Compassionomics: Hypothesis and experimental approach. *Medical Hypotheses*, 107, 92-97. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2017.08.015</u>

Valery, J. R., Applewhite, A., Manaois, A., Dimuna, J., Sher, T., Heckman, M. G., Brushaber, D. E., & Stancampiano, F. (2020). A retrospective analysis of genderbased difference in adherence to initial colon cancer screening recommendations. *Journal of Primary Care & Community Health*, 11, 1–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2150132720931321</u>

- VanderWeele, T. J., & Mathur, M. B. (2019). Some desirable properties of the Bonferroni correction: Is the Bonferroni correction really so bad? *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 188(3), 617-618. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwy250
- Wald, H. S., McFarland, J., & Markovina, I. (2019). Medical humanities in medical education and practice. *Medical Teacher*, 41(5), 492-496. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2018.1497151</u>
- Ward, P. (2018). Trust and communication in a doctor-patient relationship: A literature review. *Arch Med*, *3*(3), 36. <u>https://doi.org/10.4172/2472-1654.100146</u>
- Warner, R. M. (2013). Applied statistics: From bivariate through multivariate techniques(2nd ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Weller, J., & Jowsey, T. (2020). Can we go too far with empathy? Shifting from empathy to compassion. *British Journal of Anaesthesia*, 124(2), 129-131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bja.2019.10.014.</u>

- Wollancho, W., Amdissa, D., Bamboro, S., Wasihun, Y., Tareke, K. G., & Gizaw, A. T. (2020). Determining behavioral intention and its predictors towards cervical cancer screening among women in Gomma district, Jimma, Ethiopia: Application of the theory of planned behavior. *PLOS One*, *15*(11), Article e0238472. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0238472
- World Health Organization. (2018). Delivering quality health services: A global imperative. OECD Publishing.
- Wood, T. J., Koester, K. A., Christopoulos, K. A., Sauceda, J. A., Neilands, T. B., & Johnson, M. O. (2018). If someone cares about you, you are more apt to come around: Improving HIV care engagement by strengthening the patient–provider relationship. *Patient Preference and Adherence*, *12*, 919. https://doi.org/10.2147/PPA.S157003
- Zhao, G., Okoro, C. A., Li, J., & Town, M. (2018). Health insurance status and clinical cancer screenings among US adults. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 54(1), e11-e19. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2017.08.024</u>